
Blindtext Zwischentitel groß Lorem
Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ Veteresne

poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste quidem vete-

res inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est iunior anno.

Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui perficit anos ut

equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum, dum cadat elusus

ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem aestimat annis mira-

turque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. 

Ennius et sapines et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter cura-

re videtur, quo promissa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in mani-

bus non est et mentibus haeret paene recens? Adeo sanctum est vetus

omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit prior, aufert PacuviusSi

meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quotus

arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inteprobus,

centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor uno mense vel anno,

inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos?

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ 

Veteresne poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste

quidem veteres inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est

iunior anno. Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui per-

ficit anos ut equinae paulatim vell caudaeque pilatque probus, centum

qui perficit anos ut equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum,

dum cadat elusus ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem

aestimat annis miraturque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. Ennius et sapi-

nes et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter curare videtur, quo

promissa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in manibus non est et

mentibus haeret paene recens? 

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos?s centum qui

decidit, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque

novos? Excludat iurgia finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit

annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referen-

dus erit?“ 

Adeo sanctum est vetus omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit

prior, aufert PacuviusSi meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim,

chartis pretium quotus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui

decidit, inteprobus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor

uno mense vel anno, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter

vilis atque novos?

BLINDTEXT ZWISCHENTITEL GROß LOREM

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ 

Veteresne poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste

quidem veteres inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est

iunior anno. Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui per-

ficit anos ut equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum, dum

cadat elusus ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem aesti-

mat annis miraturque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. Ennius et sapines

et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter curare videtur, quo pro-

missa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in manibus non est et

mentibus haeret paene recens? 

Adeo sanctum est vetus omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit

prior, aufert PacuviusSi meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim,

chartis pretium quotus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui

decidit, inteprobus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor

uno mense vel anno, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter

vilis atque novos?

OCTOBER 2003
By establishing subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and France, Sirona

strengthens its presence in these important markets. 

The expansion of the CAD/CAM systems software for dental laborato-

ries (inLab) opens up new applications possibilities. This enables the

manufacture of four-part bridges, veneers, inlays and onlays as well as

supraconstructions.

The Strategic Purchasing Department begins its work. The task:

Improving corporate procurement processes as well as identifying and

exploiting savings potential.

Sirona launches electrically-driven instruments in the U.S.

Supported by the growing trend of dentists changing from air-driven

motors to electric motors, sales exceed expectations.

NOVEMBER 2003
EQT Northern Europe Private Equity Funds and Sirona Management 

purchase Sirona from Permira Funds.

The “Biss bald – Zaehne mit Zukunft” initiative is launched in coopera-

tion with ZDF (German television). Various TV shows run features on

such topics as preventive dental care, restorative therapy, crowns and

bridges. A patient information brochure is also launched.

MARCH 2004
The Handpieces Division begins converting production to the “one-piece-

flow concept”. Once completed, Sirona will be able to manufacture each

of the current sixty-seven different turbine variations on a daily basis.

APRIL 2004
The M1+ is launched as successor to the M1, which was – with 34,000

sold – the most successful treatment center in the world. 

Sirona purchases all shares in Nitram Dental a/s, an innovative provider

of dental hygiene and instrument sterilization devices.

MAY 2004
A dissertation written at the University Dental Clinic in Cologne once

again proves the durability of CEREC restorations. With more than 2,300

restorations examined, the survival probability after nine years is 95.5

percent.

The SIRONiTi Air+ launched by Sirona is the air-operated version of the

contra-angle handpiece for root canal treatment (endodontics) with

nickel-titanium files. 

Sirona further expands the CAD/CAM system for dental laboratories.

With infiniDent, dental technicians can centrally manufacture ceramic as

well as metal copings and bridge frameworks at Sirona and hence,

increase their efficiency.

Sirona Japan is set up and will be actively operating from October 1.

JULY 2004
The ORTHOPHOS XGPlus, the top model in the digital panoramic imaging

product line, is launched. It opens up many new diagnostic possibilities

for dentists, specializing in oral surgery, implantology or orthodontics. 

Sirona expands its international activities: The company purchases the

shares previously held by the former partners of the Spanish sales com-

pany Sirona Equipos Dentales Ibérica S.A., making it a 100%-owned

subsidiary. 

SEPTEMBER 2004
The Sirona Dental Academy expands its training offerings with seminars

for dentists, dental technicians, dental practice teams and laboratory

staff. 

To consolidate the international subsidiaries, Sirona sets up Sirona

International Holding GmbH. 
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AT A GLANCE

* The Sirona Group in its current structure was legally established in February 2004. In order to accurately compare operating results with the previous year, the company has prepared a 
“pro forma” result for the corresponding 12-month period. Excluding the impact from ownership change such as refinancing and acquisition expenses, increased interest and step-up 
depreciation and amortization, the result from ordinary activities and the net result for the year amount to € 36 million and € 26 million respectively. This corresponds to an increase
of 24% and 30%. 

** EBIT before step-up depreciation, extraordinary results and depreciations, and currency losses on the US$-denominated bank loan

*** EBITDA before extraordinary results and depreciations, and currency losses on the US$-denominated bank loan

The key figures of the Sirona Group for the financial year 2003/04 are only comparable to the previous years for our operating business due to

changes of ownership and financing structures and the associated effects of first time consolidation. Please find further details in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Sirona Group Key figures 

T € 2003|04* 2002|03 2001|02 2000|01 1999|00

Sales 319,878 283,929 271,989 277,709 218,994

Research and development expenses 23,769 20,570 20,262 18,689 19,160

Material costs 155,972 137,190 135,432 151,120 115,943

Personnel costs 88,760 83,467 74,882 77,662 68,336

Interest and similar expenses* 27,016 10,248 9,706 12,762 13,000

Result from ordinary activities* -3,204 28,757 18,929 19,836 -2,120

Extraordinary result* -9,363 -2,599 -994 -1,802 2,356

Income taxes / Other taxes* -933 -6,534 -10,642 -3,730 -211

Net result of the year* -13,500 19,624 7,212 14,304 25

Subscribed capital and capital reserves* 45,467 62,785 62,785 89,706 89,706

Employees (average number of full-time employees) 1,251 1,183 1,149 1,105 1,078

EBIT (adjusted)** 61,333 51,602 43,819 46,549 32,487

EBITDA*** 71,361 60,840 52,562 55,054 40,818



AT A GLANCE

The key figures of the Sirona Group for the financial year 2003/04 are only comparable to the previous years for our operating business due to

changes of ownership and financing structures and the associated effects of first time consolidation. Please find further details in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Sirona Companies

GERMANY 
Sirona Dental Systems GmbH
Fabrikstrasse 31
64625 Bensheim, Germany
Phone: +49 (0)6251 16 0 
Fax: +49 (0)6251 16 25 91 
E-mail: contact@sirona.de 
Internet: www.sirona.de

DENMARK 
Nitram Dental a/s
Sindalsvej 36
8240 Risskov, Denmark 
Phone: +45 (0)87 43 90 60 
Fax: +45 (0)87 43 90 61 
E-mail: info@nitramdental.com
Internet: www.nitramdental.com

FRANCE 
Sirona Dental Systems S.A.S.
15, Rue des Halles
75001 Paris, France
Phone: +33 (0)1 42 21 21 51 
Fax: +33 (0)1 42 21 03 05 
E-mail: info@sirona.fr
Internet: www.sirona.fr 

UNITED KINGDOM 
Sirona Dental Systems Ltd.
Regents Place
338, Euston Road
London NW1 3BT, United Kingdom
Phone: +44 (0)207 544 86 32  
Fax:  +44 (0)207 544 84 01
E-mail: info@sironadental.co.uk 
Internet: www.sironadental.co.uk

ITALY 
Advanced Technology Research s.r.l. (ATR)
Via del Pescino 6
51100 Pistoia, Italy 
Phone: +39 (0)573 36 42 54 
Fax: +39 (0)573 36 40 02 
E-mail: info@atrdental.com
Internet: www.sirona.it

SPAIN 
Sirona Equipos Dentales Ibérica, S.A.
Montnegre, 18-24, Esc. B. Entlo 1a
08029 Barcelona, Spain
Phone: +34 (0)93 321 53 16
Fax: +34 (0)93 419 51 34
E-mail: barcelona@sirona-spain.com  
Internet: www.sirona.com/es

ADDRESSES

U.S.A.
Sirona Dental Systems LLC
4835 Sirona Drive
Charlotte, NC 28273
P.O. Box 410100, U.S.A. 
Phone: +1 704 587 04 53 
Fax: +1 704 587 93 94 
E-mail: marketing@sirona.com 
Internet: www.sirona.com

CHINA
Sirona Dental Systems Foshan Co. Ltd.
Lianhe Shishi Industry Zone, Luocun Town
Nanhai District
Foshan, Guangdong, China
Phone: +86 (0)757 86 40 01 11
Fax: +86 (0)757 86 40 06 59
E-mail: contact@sironafoshan.com.cn
Internet: www.sironafoshan.com.cn

JAPAN
Sirona Dental Systems K.K.
Takanawa Ono Bldg. 3F
15-21, Takanawa 2 chome
Minato-ku
Tokyo 108-0074, Japan
Phone: +81 (0)3 54 75 22 55 
Fax: +81 (0)3 54 75 22 66 
E-mail: info@sirona.co.jp
Internet: www.sirona.co.jp 

Sirona Representative Offices

EGYPT
Sirona Representative Office
Dr. Bassel Khulief
P.O. Box 76
Al Andalus 11817
Cairo, Egypt
Phone: +20 (0)2270 82 41 
Fax: +20 (0)2270 82 41 
E-mail: sironaeg@tedata.net.eg
Internet: www.sirona.com

AUSTRALIA 
Sirona Representative Office
Tim Carse
13, Lower Beach Street,
Balgowlah
NSW 2093, Australia
Phone: +61 (0)2 99 49 25 94 
Fax: +61 (0)2 99 49 26 23 
E-mail: timcarse@sirona.com.au
Internet: www.sirona.com.au 

CHINA 
Sirona Representative Office
Room 718, Lido Commercial Building
Jiangtai Road, Chao Yang District
Beijing 100004, China 
Phone: +86 (0)10 64 36 73 85 
Fax: +86 (0)10 64 36 73 87 
E-mail: wuyansro@public3.bta.net.cn 
Internet: www.sirona.cn 

KOREA
Sirona Representative Office
c/o Shinhung Co. Ltd.
10-3, Jungnim-Dong, Jung-Gu
Seoul, Korea 100-858
Phone: +82 (0)2 63 66 21 21

+82 (0)2 63 66 21 30 
Fax: +82 (0)2 63 66 21 31 
E-mail: wolfgang.braun@shinhung.co.kr
Internet: www.sirona.com 

RUSSIA 
Sirona Representative Office
ul. Timura Frunze 16, Building 3
119021 Moscow, Russia
Phone: +7 095 246 97 60 
Fax: +7 095 246 64 92 
E-mail: sironadental@mtu-net.ru 
Internet: www.sirona.com

SAUDI ARABIA
Sirona Representative Office
Dr. Mohammed Yacoub
P.O. Box 295734
Riyadh 11351, Saudi Arabia
Phone: +966 (0)1 463 14 22 
Fax: +966 (0)1 466 06 76 
E-mail: yacoub.sirona@sps.net.sa
Internet: www.sirona.cn 

SOUTH AFRICA
Sirona Representative Office
Andy Cyprianos
P.O. Box 1345
Cresta
Johannesburg 2118, South Africa
Phone: +27 (0)834 26 65 96
Fax: +27 (0)839 16 01 50
E-mail: andyc.sirona@telkomsa.net
Internet: www.sirona.com

Sirona Group Key figures 

T € 2003|04 2002|03 2001|02 2000|01 1999|00

Pro forma

Sales 319,878 283,929 271,989 277,709 218,994

Research and development expenses 23,769 20,570 20,262 18,689 19,160

Material costs 155,972 137,190 135,432 151,120 115,943

Personnel costs 88,760 83,467 74,882 77,662 68,336

Interest and similar expenses* 27,016 10,248 9,706 12,762 13,000

Result from ordinary activities* -3,204 28,757 18,929 19,836 -2,120

Extraordinary result* -9,363 -2,599 -994 -1,802 2,356

Income taxes / Other taxes* -933 -6,534 -10,642 -3,730 -211

Net income of the year* -13,500 19,624 7,212 14,304 25

Subscribed capital and capital reserves* 45,467 62,785 62,785 89,706 89,706

Employees (average number of full-time employees) 1,251 1,183 1,149 1,105 1,078

EBIT (adjusted)** 61,333 51,602 43,819 46,549 32,487

EBITDA*** 71,361 60,840 52,562 55,054 40,818

*comparisons to previous years are only feasible on a limited basis

**EBIT before step-up depreciation, extraordinary results and depreciations, and currency losses on the US$-denominated bank loan

***EBITDA before extraordinary results and depreciations, and currency losses on the US$-denominated bank loan

Sales in T €

Research and developement expenses in T €

EBITDA in T €

Sales by divisions 2003|04

Treatment Centers

Dental CAD/CAM Systems

Imaging Systems

Handpieces

15.9%

31.0%

21.3%

31.8%

Sales by sales regions 2003|04
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Other World Markets 

20.2%
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Blindtext Zwischentitel groß Lorem
Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ Veteresne

poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste quidem vete-

res inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est iunior anno.

Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui perficit anos ut

equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum, dum cadat elusus

ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem aestimat annis mira-

turque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. 

Ennius et sapines et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter cura-

re videtur, quo promissa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in mani-

bus non est et mentibus haeret paene recens? Adeo sanctum est vetus

omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit prior, aufert PacuviusSi

meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quotus

arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inteprobus,

centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor uno mense vel anno,

inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos?

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ 

Veteresne poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste

quidem veteres inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est

iunior anno. Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui per-

ficit anos ut equinae paulatim vell caudaeque pilatque probus, centum

qui perficit anos ut equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum,

dum cadat elusus ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem

aestimat annis miraturque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. Ennius et sapi-

nes et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter curare videtur, quo

promissa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in manibus non est et

mentibus haeret paene recens? 

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos?s centum qui

decidit, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque

novos? Excludat iurgia finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit

annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referen-

dus erit?“ 

Adeo sanctum est vetus omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit

prior, aufert PacuviusSi meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim,

chartis pretium quotus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui

decidit, inteprobus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor

uno mense vel anno, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter

vilis atque novos?
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Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ 

Veteresne poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste

quidem veteres inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est

iunior anno. Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui per-

ficit anos ut equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum, dum

cadat elusus ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem aesti-

mat annis miraturque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. Ennius et sapines

et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter curare videtur, quo pro-

missa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in manibus non est et

mentibus haeret paene recens? 

Adeo sanctum est vetus omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit

prior, aufert PacuviusSi meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim,

chartis pretium quotus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui

decidit, inteprobus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor

uno mense vel anno, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter

vilis atque novos?

OCTOBER 2003
By establishing subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and France, Sirona

strengthens its presence in these important markets. 

The expansion of the CAD/CAM systems software for dental laborato-

ries (inLab) opens up new applications possibilities. This enables the

manufacture of four-part bridges, veneers, inlays and onlays as well as

supraconstructions.

The Strategic Purchasing Department begins its work. The task:

Improving corporate procurement processes as well as identifying and

exploiting savings potential.

Sirona launches electrically-driven instruments in the U.S.

Supported by the growing trend of dentists changing from air-driven

motors to electric motors, sales exceed expectations.

NOVEMBER 2003
EQT Northern Europe Private Equity Funds and Sirona Management 

purchase Sirona from Permira Funds.

The “Biss bald – Zaehne mit Zukunft” initiative is launched in coopera-

tion with ZDF (German television). Various TV shows run features on

such topics as preventive dental care, restorative therapy, crowns and

bridges. A patient information brochure is also launched.

MARCH 2004
The Handpieces Division begins converting production to the “one-piece-

flow concept”. Once completed, Sirona will be able to manufacture each

of the current sixty-seven different turbine variations on a daily basis.

APRIL 2004
The M1+ is launched as successor to the M1, which was – with 34,000

sold – the most successful treatment center in the world. 

Sirona purchases all shares in Nitram Dental a/s, an innovative provider

of dental hygiene and instrument sterilization devices.

MAY 2004
A dissertation written at the University Dental Clinic in Cologne once

again proves the durability of CEREC restorations. With more than 2,300

restorations examined, the survival probability after nine years is 95.5

percent.

The SIRONiTi Air+ launched by Sirona is the air-operated version of the

contra-angle handpiece for root canal treatment (endodontics) with

nickel-titanium files. 

Sirona further expands the CAD/CAM system for dental laboratories.

With infiniDent, dental technicians can centrally manufacture ceramic as

well as metal copings and bridge frameworks at Sirona and hence,

increase their efficiency.

Sirona Japan is set up and will be actively operating from October 1.

JULY 2004
The ORTHOPHOS XGPlus, the top model in the digital panoramic imaging

product line, is launched. It opens up many new diagnostic possibilities

for dentists, specializing in oral surgery, implantology or orthodontics. 

Sirona expands its international activities: The company purchases the

shares previously held by the former partners of the Spanish sales com-

pany Sirona Equipos Dentales Ibérica S.A., making it a 100%-owned

subsidiary. 

SEPTEMBER 2004
The Sirona Dental Academy expands its training offerings with seminars

for dentists, dental technicians, dental practice teams and laboratory

staff. 

To consolidate the international subsidiaries, Sirona sets up Sirona

International Holding GmbH. 
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SIRONA – THE DENTAL COMPANY

SIRONA IS ONE OF THE WORLD'S LEADING MANUFACTURERS

OF DENTAL EQUIPMENT. THE COMPANY DEVELOPS, PRODUCES

AND MARKETS TREATMENT CENTERS, IMAGING SYSTEMS,

HANDPIECES, STERILIZATION EQUIPMENT AND CAD/CAM

DENTAL SYSTEMS. WITH ITS ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY AND

INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS, SIRONA SETS THE STANDARDS IN

ITS MARKETS. THE COMPANY HAS BEEN PIONEERING 

INNOVATIONS IN THE DENTAL INDUSTRY FOR MORE THAN

125 YEARS AND CURRENTLY EMPLOYS A STAFF OF 1,600.*

WITH AN ABSOLUTE PASSION FOR DENTISTRY, SIRONA 

COLLABORATES WITH ITS DEALER PARTNERS TO BETTER

SERVE THE WORLDWIDE DENTAL COMMUNITY. 

* as of: 12/31/2004



Sirona Headquarters in Bensheim, Germany
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What is your assessment of the past

financial year? 

Fischer: We have continued to develop our

Company, both in terms of products and our

presence in international markets. Regarding

products, the launches of the new generation

of digital cephalometric and panoramic im-

aging systems and the M1+ treatment center

were the highlights of the year. Further, by

establishing subsidiaries in five countries,

Sirona has taken a major step toward becom-

ing a provider which is at home where its 

customers are. Both factors – the innovative

products and a stronger presence in important

markets – form the foundation for further

positive developments. 

Blank: Sirona continued its growth in the

2003/04 financial year. Sales revenue of

320 million euros was 13 percent above the

previous year, and Sirona increased its market

share in many countries. The EBITDA, referring

to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and

amortization, was also favorable. At 71 million

euros, it represents a 17 percent increase over

the previous year. Here, we are reaping the

rewards of our policy of tight cost manage-

ment, even during this growth phase. There

will be no changes here. 

What motivates Sirona to set up subsidi-

aries abroad? 

Fischer: Our local presence is a sign of just

how important each market is for Sirona. The

simple fact that we now have subsidiaries or

representative offices in a total of 14 countries

is having a positive impact on our business. Of

course, our presence in these markets by itself

is not enough to achieve our goals. If our cus-

tomers are to view us as a local provider in

their markets, the Company as a whole must

act accordingly.

Haar: That’s why, in parallel with external

growth, we have strengthened our internal

organization. One example is improved sup-

port for our dealers. Most of the employees in

the sales organization now come from the

countries they serve. Sharing the same cultural

background, communication is made much

easier and thus creates a closer link between

Sirona and its dealer partners. 

How do you get the workforce to 

support the changes the Company is 

now experiencing? 

Haar: By involving employees from all areas

from the outset and giving them the opportu-

nity to help shape the necessary changes. That

is the tradition at Sirona, and it is a basic com-

ponent of our corporate culture. Each year, up

to 200 employees identify potential areas of

improvement in the Company within the frame-

work of Sirona Success Management and 

define corresponding solutions. Thanks to this

model, our workforce has already played an

important role in Sirona’s evolution from a 

division of the Siemens group to an indepen-

dent company, and has made a substantial

contribution to our corporate success. Using

this tried-and-tested system, our team is pre-

pared to tackle similar challenges in the future. 

What implications does the change of

ownership from Permira to EQT have for

Sirona?

Blank: The change of ownership was percei-

ved as a completely normal event for a private-

equity financed company. It had no impact on

our day-to-day business. However, it has an

impact on the balance sheet and the profit

and loss statement of the past financial year.

Primary non-operative factors include dealing

with the different amounts from capital consol-

idation, additional procurement costs and new

financing structures. 

You have already mentioned the take-

overs and start-ups in the past financial

year. What acquisition strategy will you

pursue in the future?

Blank: Our focus is on three types of compa-

nies. The first includes firms that are still in the

developmental phase of an innovative pro-

duct. The second has already rolled out its

product, but is not able to exploit its growth

opportunities under its own steam. Cases in

point include both ATR and Nitram, which we

took over in the financial year 2002/03 and in

the spring of 2004 respectively. ATR streng-

thens our presence in the endodontic field,

one of the fastest growing segments in the

dental market. Nitram improves our position in

the hygiene segment. The third group of

Interview with Jost Fischer, President & Chief Executive Officer, Simone Blank, Executive
Vice President & Chief Financial Officer, and Theo Haar, Executive Vice President Human
Resources & Services of Sirona Dental Systems. 

Seizing opportunities – 
growing worldwide 
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potential takeover candidates consists of

established companies, the acquisition of

which increases our market share and helps

consolidate the industry. 

And in October, Sirona purchased a 

company in China…

Fischer: For Sirona, China is a market with a

promising outlook in the long term. The stress

here is on ‘long term’. At present, most of the

demand there is for simple technology in the

lower-priced segment. Sirona’s current pro-

ducts are used only in high-end clinics and 

private practices. Thanks to the takeover of

the HTC Hipwo Group, a manufacturer of 

treatment centers, and the founding of Sirona

Dental Systems Foshan Co. Ltd., we have

taken initial steps to participate in the broader

market. Using this platform, we will be able to

influence this growing market on all levels. 

Let’s take a look at the short-term 

prospect. How will Sirona evolve in the

current financial year?

Fischer: We will continue to be the innovator

in the dental industry and align the Company

with the needs of our markets and customers.

Sirona is well-positioned. We will optimize 

our opportunities and continue growing world-

wide.

Jost Fischer, Simone Blank, and Theo Haar in our

Q&A (from top down).
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Knowing what counts.  
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Dentists and dental laboratories not only have to provide quality care; they have to do it
efficiently. They need the right tools to meet this challenge.
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“It all started with a problem: When I began

practicing in 1985, I noticed that I was not able 

to fully satisfy the needs of my patients,” says 

Dr. Mark Morin. The patients in his district in

Southfield, Michigan, were calling for esthetically

superior restorations. “They wanted durable,

natural tooth-colored restorations and metal-free

crowns in a single visit. I was unable to provide

the required service through traditional means.“ 

The dentist found the solution in a trade jour-

nal. An article explained how dentists could

produce ceramic restorations themselves. The

magic word was CAD/CAM, the acronym for

“computer aided design / computer aided

manufacturing.” The dental division at

Siemens, which later became Sirona, intro-

duced such a system called CEREC in 1987. 

Morin bought his first unit in 1989, laying the

cornerstone for the success of his practice, he

says.

Today, the doctor works in a modern surgery

building with seven treatment rooms. Every

day, his team manufactures 10 to 15 ceramic

restorations using CEREC 3, the latest genera-

tion CAD/CAM system for dentists. First, the

condition of the teeth is recorded by an intra-

oral digital camera. Then the dentist uses

three-dimensional software to design the

crown, the inlay or the veneer, and the system

mills the restoration fully automatically from a

ceramic block. 

Besides being able to meet the demand for

ceramic restorations in a timely manner, Morin

sights economic efficiency as a second major

advantage of the new technology. “Today, my

practice is among those with the highest pro-

ductivity in the United States, and CEREC is

the reason.”

PRECISE, FAST, EFFICIENT
Modern dental treatment is expected to be reliable, gentle and cost-efficient. Sirona deve-
lops products that help meet these requirements. Take CEREC, for example. 

Efficiency does matter 

Sirona is the pioneer and technology leader in CAD/CAM systems for

dentists and dental laboratories. According to Michael Augins,

President of Sirona U.S.A., the demand for such systems will be in-

creasing. “In the U.S., we see two conflicting trends. With an aging

population, the demand for dental services will continue to grow. On

the other hand, the number of students graduating from dental

schools each year is inadequate to meet the demand,” he says. One

solution, in his opinion, is a significant increase in the efficiency of

dental practices. This is where CEREC comes in. The demographic picture in the United States

applies to many other industrialized countries as well. Sirona is assuming further growth in the

demand for CAD/CAM dental systems in these markets too. 

Michael Augins, President
of Sirona U.S.A.
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Using CEREC, ceramic crowns and inlays can

be produced in a single session, and installed

during the same patient visit. The traditional

method of installing a temporary appliance

until the dental lab produces the finished res-

toration is a thing of the past. Also, the time-

consuming creation of impressions, so unpleas-

ant for many patients, is no longer necessary

with CEREC. This considerably reduces the

doctor’s time and cost of materials. Because

the procedure is completed in a single patient

visit, the dentist is spared the incremental

costs associated with a second appointment.

Morin estimates that dentists using CEREC 

can increase their productivity by up to 20

percent. In addition to the high quality of the

restoration, his patients receive another impor-

tant benefit: “I can give them something that

everyone values – time,” says Morin. 

What’s more, CEREC users are in the best

position to capitalize on one of the strongest

growth segments in the dental industry: “In

the U.S. up to 1.2 billion amalgam fillings will

have to be replaced in the next 10 years,” says

Morin. Because of the discussion surrounding

the health-damaging effects of mercury alloy,

the demand for alternative restoration mate-

rials will rise. “Patients will ask their doctors what

they can offer instead of amalgam. And if their

doctor cannot come up with a material that

meets their wishes in terms of compatibility,

esthetics and durability, some other doctor will.” 

DURABLE AND GENTLE 

The fact that color-matched restorations made

of ceramic are more pleasing to the eye than

metal fillings is obvious. Equally important, in

the view of many patients, are the physical

benefits. Unlike metal, ceramic does not dis-

solve chemically and does not react with

human tissue. This is a crucial factor, above 

all, for those suffering from allergies. 

Also, ceramic restorations can be installed

without damaging healthy tooth structure.

Since the restoration is glued to the tooth,

only the decayed portion of the tooth need 

be removed. However, if the doctor is using

metal, some healthy tooth structure will be

lost in the preparation. The durability of CEREC

inlays, onlays, crowns and veneers has been

proven by extensive long-term clinical studies. 

For Dr. Klaus Wiedhahn, President of the

International Society of Computerized

Dentistry, CEREC not only increases efficiency

because restorations can be made and fitted

in a single session; this modern technology

also increases one’s joy in work. “Doctors 

restricted to traditional methods in dentistry

constantly have to make medical and eco-

nomic compromises,” he says. “For CEREC

users, there are no such compromises.” 

With CEREC, dentists can design and build fully ceramic restorations by themselves. The special materials used can withstand extraordinary strains permanently.

»Patients are very demanding when it comes to
the tolerance, esthetics, and the durability of
dental restorations. CEREC meets all of these
criteria.«
Dr. Mark Morin, Dentist from Southfield, Michigan / U.S.A. 
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Simply better. 
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Innovative products that open up new possibilities and make work easier. This is the
object of the research and development efforts at Sirona. 
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Whenever Klaus Stoeckl reads articles in trade

journals about the new digital X-ray unit

ORTHOPHOS XGPlus, he is particularly pleased

about one thing. “Users praise how easy it is

to operate the device,” he says. “That's exactly

what we worked so hard to achieve.” 

On the market since the summer of 2004, the

ORTHOPHOS XGPlus is the top-of-the-line

model in the next generation of digital cepha-

lometric and panoramic imaging systems by

Sirona. It offers orthodontists, oral surgeons

and implantologists a broad selection of new

diagnostic options. One of the most important

tasks for Stoeckl, project team leader in the

mechanical department, and his co-developers

was to ensure that the ORTHOPHOS XGPlus is

easy to operate despite the many programs

and setting options available. 

The solution is small and oval – the operating

element “Easypad”. A touch screen with color

display, Easypad offers intuitive program selec-

tion. By using simple icons to navigate

through the system, operator error is virtually

eliminated. 

Often, the solutions that look simple and logi-

cal in their implementation require the most

sophisticated development efforts. That is why

the project team was so diverse in its make-

up. In addition to hardware and software spe-

cialists, engineers and marketing experts were

part of the team from the beginning. “The

idea was to ensure that our developments are

in synch with the marketplace,” says Stoeckl.

For this project, Sirona co-operated with the

Institute for Work Sciences at the Technical

University (TU) Darmstadt. Two experts from

the Institute contributed significantly to

making the ORTHOPHOS XGPlus more efficient

and user-friendly. In one simulation, for exam-

ple, they recorded a user's eye movements

when operating an X-ray machine, enabling

them to give useful advice on where switches

should be located.

EASY HANDLING WITH SIMPLE

ICONS AND DIALOGUE

The starting point for product development

was a precise analysis. “Surveys and tests have

shown that the most common problems

encountered during operation are caused by

over-complicated icons and operating se-

quences,” says Stoeckl. At a very early stage,

the Easypad emerged as the best solution.

Another plus – if the unit is later upgraded to

include more functions, the interface can be

adapted by a simple software modification

with no need for a costly exchange. A design

ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY – SIMPLE OPERATION 
In developing new products and processes, Sirona collaborates closely with research insti-
tutions and dental practitioners. This was the case with the new digital cephalometric and
panoramic X-ray system ORTHOPHOS XGPlus featuring the Easypad. 

The “Easypad” provides a safe and easy way to operate the ORTHOPHOS XGPlus.

Klaus Stoeckl, devel-
opment engineer 
at Sirona
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firm developed simple operating dialogues and

icons, clearly showing which layer of the jaw is

being X-rayed in the specific program selected.

This partner, with whom Sirona has been col-

laborating for some time, was closely involved

in the design of the entire unit. 

The creativity and competence of the devel-

opers is largely responsible for the design of

any sophisticated product. Whether the tech-

nology will prove its everyday worth, however,

can best be assessed by those who work with

it. Hence, the ORTHOPHOS XGPlus underwent

practical trials early on. Even before the first

prototype was built, more than 20 doctors

and assistants tested the unit in a computer

simulation. “At their suggestion, we decided,

for instance, to install the Easypad directly on

the unit and not design it as a remote con-

trol,” says Stoeckl. The question of whether it

was to be operated via keyboard or a touch

screen was also decided here. “Many testers

intuitively touched the icons on the screen

when they chose the settings,” says Stoeckl,

proof that a touch screen is more user-friendly

and, hence, the better operating solution. 

The incorporation of these improvements 

turned the ORTHOPHOS XGPlus into a device

that combines a previously unknown variety of

diagnostic options with simple operation. With

this new product, Sirona fulfills its own goal of

coupling innovative excellence with user-friendly

design. It also ensures that Klaus Stoeckl is not

the only one who enjoys reading trade journals.

Internal competence and external perspective 

In developing new products, Sirona works closely with universities and other research facilities. One

example – besides the development of the ORTHOPHOS XGPlus – is a new unit designed to diagnose

and treat periodontal disease. This technology is being developed in co-operation with the University

at Greifswald. The involvement of scientists, according to Stoeckl, has another benefit besides the

technical input: “External players tend to take an entirely different look at the project. That’s extreme-

ly valuable.”
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Never far away.  
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From a leading company in the industry, customers demand more than just high-quality
products. They want a partner who speaks their language. 



Whether by phone, email or in a direct conversation: Communication is crucial to Lionel Phelipot.
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The key tools used by Lionel Phelipot are a

headset and a navigation system. When the

30-year-old is not busy on the phone or reply-

ing to nearly 100 emails per day, he is trave-

ling all over France. As Area Sales Manager for

Sirona, he co-ordinates the work of six other

representatives in the market, and is the key

contact for dealers. In short, he is the embodi-

ment of a modern sales manager, for whom

communication and mobility are the primary

tools of the trade. In other words, Phelipot is

the “French face” of Sirona. 

France is an attractive market for dental equip-

ment with a strong demand for high-quality 

products and state-of-the-art technology. 

As in most developed countries, the trend here

is toward equipment and systems tailored to

meet individual needs. This being the case,

Sirona has been further developing its sales

organization. The emphasis here is on more in-

depth collaboration with distributors and clo-

ser co-operation between the support team in

Bensheim and local Sirona staff in the market-

place. 

SIRONA ADAPTS TO LOCAL 

MARKET CONDITIONS

The French market has its peculiarities. For

example, products must accommodate the

fact that dentists there usually provide their

treatment without the help of assistants. The

relationship with distributors, too, follows its

own rules. “We are dealing almost exclusively

with family-run firms whose owners and

employees have been in business for 20 years

or more,” says Phelipot. “Thorough dialogue

and precise knowledge of the market are 

everything here.” In light of this, Sirona’s 

representatives are backed by a team of eight

marketing and sales specialists in Bensheim

who are solely dedicated to serving the French

market. Most of them are French. All others

are fluent in the French language, as are the

staff members in the customer service center,

who support the French market. 

TOGETHER, WE’RE STRONGER 
Through a closer collaboration with local distributors and a more sophisticated sales 
organization, Sirona intends to be even more effective in meeting customer requirements.
This can be seen clearly in France. 
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One indication of the high value that Sirona

attaches to the French market is the opening

of an office in Paris. “We serve here as a 

partner within the country to help the dealers

increase their success,” says Phelipot. More-

over, Sirona has considerably expanded its

support and advanced-training programs for

distributors. “We are simply closer to our cus-

tomers,” is how Phelipot sums up the change. 

This proximity to customers and markets pays

off. In the 2003/04 financial year, sales reve-

nue in France was up 34 percent. 

Sirona and distribution partners: moving forward together 

More than 70 representatives of Sirona's French

sales partners were invited to Bensheim at the

end of August. In the Dental Academy the

Sirona sales team discussed with the dealers

their perspectives on the market and expansion

of their joint efforts there. In addition, the distri-

bution partners participated in workshops that

enabled them to see and try the equipment on

display in the Dental Academy.



18 | 19

Blindtext Zwischentitel groß Lorem
Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ Veteresne

poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste quidem vete-

res inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est iunior anno.

Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui perficit anos ut

equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum, dum cadat elusus

ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem aestimat annis mira-

turque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. 

Ennius et sapines et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter cura-

re videtur, quo promissa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in mani-

bus non est et mentibus haeret paene recens? Adeo sanctum est vetus

omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit prior, aufert PacuviusSi

meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quotus

arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inteprobus,

centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor uno mense vel anno,

inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos?

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ 

Veteresne poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste

quidem veteres inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est

iunior anno. Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui per-

ficit anos ut equinae paulatim vell caudaeque pilatque probus, centum

qui perficit anos ut equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum,

dum cadat elusus ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem

aestimat annis miraturque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. Ennius et sapi-

nes et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter curare videtur, quo

promissa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in manibus non est et

mentibus haeret paene recens? 

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos?s centum qui

decidit, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque

novos? Excludat iurgia finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit

annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referen-

dus erit?“ 

Adeo sanctum est vetus omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit

prior, aufert PacuviusSi meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim,

chartis pretium quotus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui

decidit, inteprobus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor

uno mense vel anno, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter

vilis atque novos?

BLINDTEXT ZWISCHENTITEL GROß LOREM

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ 

Veteresne poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste

quidem veteres inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est

iunior anno. Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui per-

ficit anos ut equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum, dum

cadat elusus ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem aesti-

mat annis miraturque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. Ennius et sapines

et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter curare videtur, quo pro-

missa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in manibus non est et

mentibus haeret paene recens? 

Adeo sanctum est vetus omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit

prior, aufert PacuviusSi meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim,

chartis pretium quotus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui

decidit, inteprobus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor

uno mense vel anno, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter

vilis atque novos?

FROM EXPORT CHAMPION TO 
GLOBAL PLAYER

WITH SALES OF 320 MILLION EUROS, SIRONA INCREASED ITS 

REVENUE BY ALMOST 13 PERCENT COMPARED TO THE PREVIOUS

YEAR. EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND

AMORTIZATION (EBITDA) ROSE TO 71 MILLION EUROS. SIRONA

EXPANDED ITS INTERNATIONAL PRESENCE VIA THE ESTABLISHMENT

OR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES IN SEVERAL COUNTRIES AND 

CONTINUED GROWTH OF ITS SALES ORGANIZATION. IN ADDITION,

THE COMPANY STRENGTHENED ITS POSITION AS A LEADING WORLD-

WIDE MANUFACTURER OF DENTAL EQUIPMENT THROUGH TECHNO-

LOGICAL INNOVATION AND EXPANSION OF ITS PRODUCT LINES, ALL

STEPS ON THE ROAD FROM EXPORT CHAMPION TO GLOBAL PLAYER.



Markets – profited from global trends 

In this financial year, macroeconomic conditions in Sirona’s key markets

evolved in different ways. In the United States, gross domestic product

rose by 4.8 percent from October 2003 to the end of September 2004

while in Japan it increased by 4.3 percent. In the fifteen countries

encompassed by the European Union prior to its eastward expansion,

gross domestic product climbed by 1.7 percent in the comparable peri-

od, though in Germany growth totaled a mere 0.8 percent. 

A similar picture unfolded in the dental equipment. In the United States,

Sirona’s most important market after Germany, dental product sales

increased between seven and nine percent. As in other Asian countries,

Japan, the second largest dental market in the world, also recorded

dynamic growth. In contrast, the demand for dental equipment in

Germany only rose by one to two percent.

In virtually all markets, efficient procedures, cost controls and effective

marketing became more important to dentists, laboratories and dental

clinics. This trend resulted in a growing demand for corresponding pro-

ducts and systems. Other trends in industrialized countries include the

continuing digitalization of the dental practice, particularly in the X-ray seg-

ment, and the desire on the part of patients for high-quality dentures. 

Sirona has long focused on developing solutions which fulfill the high

expectations of dental practices, dental clinics and laboratories relating

to both therapeutic and diagnostic quality and efficiency. For this rea-

son, Sirona continues to enjoy growing market shares.

2003/04 financial year – uninterrupted growth

In the 2003/04 financial year, Sirona generated sales of 320 million

euros, an increase of almost 13 percent over the previous year. The ear-

nings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)

climbed by 17 percent to 71 million euros. 

Sales outside of Germany totaled 229 million euros, equaling 72 percent

of overall revenue (previous year: 69 percent). This figure far outstrips

the average export ratio recorded by the German dental industry which,

among the member companies of the German Dental Industry

Association (VDDI), totaled 49 percent in 2003. 
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EBITDA in T €Sales in T €

2001|02  271,989

2002|03 283,929

2003|04 319,878

0 200,000 250,000 300,000

2001|02  52,562

2002|03 60,840

2003|04 71,361

0 40,000 55,000 70,000
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Sirona’s business in the United States grew by 27 percent to 97 million

U.S. Dollars. In France, sales were particularly strong with a 34 percent

increase over the previous year. Sales and market share increased in 

Germany as well.

Sirona further enhanced its international presence in the 2003/04 finan-

cial year. Subsidiaries were established in France, the U.K. and Japan,

and in Spain Sirona acquired outright a company which had previously

been held jointly with a partner. At the end of November 2004, Sirona

founded a subsidiary in Australia, located in Sydney.

The strategic objective of the company’s acquisition policy is the expan-

sion of its product range and the optimization of growth markets. For

this reason, Sirona acquired the Italian company Advanced Technology

Research (ATR) in August 2003. ATR is the market leader for special

endodontic motors used in the preparation of root canals, one of the

leading growth areas in the dental industry.

The Danish company Nitram Dental a/s was acquired in April 2004. 

Its products DAC 2000 and DAC Universal complement Sirona’s current

portfolio of handpiece sterilization equipment. 

At the beginning of the current financial year, the newly founded Sirona

Dental Systems Foshan Co. Ltd. acquired and integrated the China-

based HTC Hipwo Group. HTC ranks among the largest manufacturers of

treatment centers in China and produces dental chairs for the low-priced

segment. The company thus covers that sector of the Chinese market

which accounts for the lion’s share of demand. Up to that point, Sirona

had not been able to offer a suitable range of products for this segment. 

Sirona now has its own companies in ten countries as well as represen-

tative agencies in five more. This expansion of its international presence

reflects Sirona’s evolution from an export-focused German company to 

a global player. Further, by increasing its international sales organization,

Sirona has strengthened its collaboration with dental dealers. Through

this process, Sirona is now in a better position to design products that

meet the needs of its customers worldwide. 

CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP – COURSE REMAINS CONSTANT

In its capacity as owner, Permira Funds oversaw and fostered Sirona’s

development following its separation from the Siemens Group in 1997.

In November 2003, the EQT Northern Europe Private Equity Fund pur-

chased the company, with Sirona Management procuring a fifteen per-

cent share. Permira bade farewell to Sirona’s employees at a company

banquet held in January 200, at which EQT was presented as the new

investor. 

»We have long participated in
global markets, but now we 
will accelerate growth through 
increased local presence.«
Jost Fischer, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Divisions

In the financial year 2003/04 all of Sirona’s divisions increased sales. 

The two largest divisions are the Treatment Centers and the Dental

CAD/CAM Systems followed by Imaging Systems and Handpieces.

DENTAL CAD/CAM SYSTEMS – CEREC CONTINUED 

SUCCESS

This was a successful year for the Dental CAD/CAM Systems Division. At

99 million euros, sales surpassed the previous year’s figures by 19 per-

cent. When adjusted for currency-related effects, the sales volume rose

by 31 percent.

Sirona is a pioneer and technological leader in the field of CAD/CAM

systems for dentists. The demand for this technology is constantly rising,

driven primarily by the trend toward the increased utilization of ceramic

material for tooth restoration. Ten million CEREC restorations have been

installed to date worldwide.

Still, there is considerable potential for growth worldwide. In Switzerland

and Germany, the countries featuring the highest market penetration,

only ten and eight percent of dental practices respectively are currently

equipped with CEREC. In the United States, the largest market for

CEREC, the ratio is four percent.

Since 2001 Sirona has also been marketing CAD/CAM systems for den-

tal laboratories (inLab). Similar to the unit designed for dentists, this

laboratory solution is being continually upgraded with new applications

and features. Thus, since May 2004, laboratories have been able to

enhance their efficiency by providing ceramic and metal copings as well

as bridge frameworks produced centrally through infiniDent. Using the

Internet portal infiniDent, a laboratory sends the relevant data to Sirona.

Within a maximum period of three working days, the laboratory receives

the substructure to which the lab can add ceramic veneering. For the

first time, Sirona provides a system which supports both the production

of tooth restorations at a laboratory’s own facility and outsourcing to a

central production center.

»CAD/CAM is becoming increasingly
important in the tooth restoration sector.
This market will continue to grow for 
many years to come.«
Dr. Joachim Pfeiffer, Vice President Dental CAD/CAM Systems Division

Dental CAD/CAM Systems Division sales in T €

2001|02                           60,862

2002|03 83,366

2003|04 99,191

0 60,000 80,000 100,000
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TREATMENT CENTERS – PRODUCT RANGE ENHANCED

IN LINE WITH MARKET REQUIREMENTS

With an installed base of more than 34,000 units, the SIRONA M1 is

the most successful treatment center in the world. In April 2004, Sirona

launched its successor M1+. This unit combines the features of its fore-

runner – particularly the operational concept, which has influenced a

whole generation of dentists – with prevailing state-of-the-art technol-

ogy. Without exception, the response from dentists, dental clinics and

distributors has been positive as reflected in rising sales.

The division enjoyed strong growth throughout Europe, and particularly

good results were achieved in France. In addition, growth in Asia, Russia

and the United States was driven largely by the C8+.

With its innovative products, the Treatment Centers Division covers all

segments in Sirona’s important markets. Equipment technology and soft-

ware designed along modular lines facilitate solutions tailored to indivi-

dual requirements. Thus, digital intraoral X-ray applications can be easily

integrated into all Sirona treatment centers. Integration of patient com-

munication and practice management programs improve the overall effi-

ciency of dental practices.

This financial year, Sirona developed a new concept for preventive care

in the form of ProFeel+, and launched it in November 2004. The unit is

specifically designed for the requirements of preventive treatment, and it

incorporates all the requisite handpieces. In addition, ProFeel+ includes

two important services: the ProFeel Academy, which provides an

exhaustive training program for dentists and their personnel both in

seminars and online, and a comprehensive marketing package for dental

practice teams. 

Overall, the Treatment Centers Division generated sales of 102 million

euros, a year-on-year increase of 10 percent.

»The requirements for treatment centers vary from country
to country and from dentist to dentist. That is why our
products are designed along modular lines. Thus, Sirona
is able to furnish solutions tailored to individual needs.«
Dr. Lothar Groener, Vice President Treatment Centers Division

Treatment Centers Division sales in T €

2001|02  99,985

2002|03 92,682

2003|04 101,759

0 90,000 95,000 100,000
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HANDPIECES – U.S. BUSINESS EXCEEDING 

EXPECTATIONS 

In the 2003/04 financial year, the Division expanded its range of hand-

pieces for treating root canals (endodontic treatment), one of the most

important growth markets in the dental industry. Advanced Technology

Research (ATR), an Italian manufacturer of special endodontic motors

and one of the technological leaders in this segment, has been a mem-

ber of the Sirona Group since August 2003. SIRONiTi, Sirona’s endodon-

tic handpiece, considerably simplifies the preparation of root canals and

renders them safer for the patient.

In April 2004, Sirona acquired all the shares in Nitram Dental a/s, a sup-

plier of dental hygiene and sterilization equipment located in Risskov,

Denmark. Nitram’s product portfolio complements Sirona’s full range of

products. It is intended that the company become a key factor in gene-

rating market share in the hygiene sector. 

A key event in the division’s success was the launch of the handpiece

line in the United States, where the market for electric handpieces is cur-

rently growing at nearly 30 percent per year. An increasing number of

dentists are incorporating the more efficient and easier-to-control elec-

tric handpieces into their practices. In only one year, Sirona has already

become one of the market leaders. This success is based on the compa-

ny’s innovative and technologically advanced products, its excellent rela-

tionship with U.S.-based dealer partners and a well conceived sales stra-

tegy. 

Global sales in the Handpieces Division totaled 51 million euros in this

financial year, 25 percent above the previous year.

»Our entry into the United States was 
a hat trick: the right products at the 
right time in conjunction with the right
sales strategy.«
Jan Siefert, Vice President Handpieces Division

When developing handpieces, focus is placed on the benefits to the users. Innovative solutions simplify treatment procedures for both the doctor and the patient.

Handpieces Division sales in T €

2001|02  43,199

2002|03                            40,591

2003|04 50,805

0 40,000 45,000 50,000
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IMAGING SYSTEMS – NEW GENERATION SUCCESSFULLY

LAUNCHED

In 2003/04, the Imaging Systems Division introduced a new generation

of digital cephalometric and panoramic X-ray systems. The flagship of

the line, the ORTHOPHOS XGPlus, was launched in July 2004. It provides

orthodontists, oral surgeons and implantologists with a previously

unknown variety of diagnostic possibilities. In the fall of 2004 Sirona

expanded its product range to include a basic version of XGPlus as well

as the ORTHOPHOS XG 5, which is targeted at general practitioners. 

The SIDEXIS image-processing software has been further developed and

several new features have been added. Also, a user area was added to

the SIDEXIS homepage (www.sidexis.com). Both the equipment and the

software have met with very positive responses from distributors and

dentists. 

In collaboration with the Treatment Centers Division, the Imaging

Systems Division developed a concept for the integration of intraoral 

X-ray into the treatment centers. Now the HELIODENT intraoral sensor

system can be incorporated into all C1+, C2+, C3+ and C4+ treatment

centers. 

Business in Canada and Korea was particularly strong. Likewise, sales

rose in France, influenced by a change in the law which now allows

dentists to perform X-rays in their own practices. Sales once again in-

creased in the United States, now Sirona’s largest individual market for

imaging. 

Despite the change of models, at 66 million euros, the division gener-

ated a sales increase of 4 percent over the previous year, which is 

consistent with market growth.

»The ORTHOPHOS XG line sets new standards in the
areas of operational safety, image quality and reduction of
radiation exposure. Sirona has again demonstrated its com-
petence as a technological leader in the field of digital panora-
mic imaging systems.« Michael Geil, Vice President Imaging Systems Division 

Sirona is a pioneer when it comes to digital X-ray. The company is continually improving on the technology through ongoing research and development.

Imaging Systems Division sales in T €

2001|02  64,574

2002|03 63,538

2003|04 66,150

0 55,000 60,000 65,000
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Research and development – leadership in innovation
extended

Sirona continually focuses on the development of new concepts and

applications as well as the enhancement of existing products. In this

financial year, the company invested almost 24 million euros in research

and development, a figure which equates to 7.4 percent of annual sales.

Once again, the R&D ratio is top within the industry. 

At Sirona, R&D develops innovative products and processes that reflect

cutting-edge technology for dental practitioners. For this reason Sirona

collaborates routinely with universities and research institutes. In order to

ensure a high level of product quality, prototypes are tested by experien-

ced users and the results of such tests are incorporated in the develop-

ment process.

In this financial year, as in preceding years, research activities focused on

digitalizing and networking dental practices. With the launch of the

ORTHOPHOS XG line, Sirona has successfully concluded the develop-

ment of the next generation of digital cephalometric and panoramic

imaging systems. The Imaging Systems Division is also developing new

imaging technology in collaboration with experts at the caesar Research

Center in Bonn. To this end, the partners have formed a new company,

SiCAT GmbH & Co. KG, in which Sirona holds a majority stake.

With regard to CAD/CAM systems, Sirona has, by means of various soft-

ware updates, further enhanced CEREC 3D technology, developed new

application areas and expanded the indication spectrum. 

In the handpiece sector, research and development focused on solutions

for periodontal disease and endodontic treatment. The demand for

related products will grow in the years ahead. In the view of experts,

the aging population will produce a growing number of patients with

periodontal conditions. Bolstered by the trend toward maintaining 

healthy tooth structure for as long as possible, the practice of endo-

dontics will continue to grow in importance.

Sales – presence in the markets strengthened 

The trend toward more sophisticated products and networked systems

necessitates a higher level of salesmanship when selling dental equip-

ment. To further improve its competency in this field, Sirona has streng-

thened its global sales organization. 

In key markets, Sirona is represented by subsidiaries. During this financial

year, subsidiaries were founded in the U.K., France, Spain and Japan. In

November 2004, Sirona also established a subsidiary in Australia. The

main focus of these companies is to assist our distribution partners in

marketing Sirona products and providing customer service. 

»Purchasers of innovative products expect high-
level service and competent counsel. By expand-
ing our global sales organization, we are laying
the foundations for sustained growth.«
Walter Petersohn, Vice President Sales

Research and development expenses in T €

2001|02 20,262

2002|03 20,570

2003|04 23,769

0 15,000 20,000 25,000
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It is Sirona’s practice to staff sales support teams with employees from

the local markets. This means that, at all times, customers and distribu-

tion partners have contacts at their disposal who not only speak their

language, but are also familiar with the market and its customs down to

the last detail. This market proximity has increased both sales and mar-

ket share, and is the basis for Sirona's continued international growth. 

Service – fast and reliable

Sirona offers its dealers and dental practitioners a variety of services.

With the exception of the United States, order entry and product ser-

vices for all countries are concentrated at its Customer Service Center 

in Bensheim. Due to the importance of the U.S. market, Sirona has a

dedicated Customer Service Center in the United States located in

Charlotte, North Carolina. 

The 107 employees in the Customer Service Center in Bensheim and

Charlotte have extensive product knowledge. While product information

is provided in German and English, the contract section in Bensheim

offers services in five different languages. 

The sales and service logistics section has been expanded and further

improved. On July 1, 2004, Sirona went live with an Internet platform for

processing returned goods. Here distributors returning products under

warranty, for example, are able to access easy-to-complete forms on-

line. Via the Internet, they can also monitor the status of each transac-

tion. This standardized system has significantly shortened the processing

time for returns.

In June Sirona introduced an electronic warranty certificate for newly

sold products. All relevant product and customer data are recorded on

these certificates. In the event of a warranty transaction, this new sys-

tem reduces the amount of administrative time required. 

»Sirona's customer service repre-
sentatives speak five languages.
Even more important, they speak
our customer's language.«
Ingeborg Klaus, Customer Service Center

Provide information, discuss it, and try it out: The Sirona Dental Academy is a communication platform that is unique throughout the industry.
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Dental Academy as a platform for education and 
communication 

With its comprehensive range of basic and advanced training courses for

dealer technicians and customer service representatives, the Sirona

Dental Academy has evolved into a dynamic forum for the exchange of

information between the company and the marketplace. In addition to

product related seminars, the Dental Academy offers workshops that

focus on the personal development of attendees and the entrepreneurial

success of Sirona's partners. 

During this financial year, the Dental Academy conducted a total of 380

seminars involving 4,000 participants from 40 countries. With an em-

phasis on international expansion, the number of programs offered in

foreign languages increased year-on-year. 

In 2005 Sirona will begin offering training classes for employees of den-

tal practices and laboratories. The curriculum will include both clinical

and technical subject matter, and a fee will be charged to all partici-

pants. Market research indicates that there is a high demand for such

seminars, and early registration for the classes confirms this finding.

Production – efficiency enhanced

The Handpieces and Treatment Centers Divisions improved their produc-

tion processes in this financial year. Since March 2004, handpieces have

been assembled in accordance with the “one-piece flow” principle. In

this system, one employee assumes responsibility for the entire produc-

tion process from beginning to end, rotating from workstation to work-

station. This made-to-order production method is being applied to all

assembly lines. Sirona can produce every one of the current sixty-seven

different turbine variations every day. This enables the company to react

to fluctuations in demand on short notice. 

In collaboration with the Fraunhofer Institute of Production Technology

and Automation, the production of treatment centers was reorganized

in accordance with the “Wertstrom” principle. For the purpose of en-

hancing flexibility, the pre-assembly and final assembly processes were

separated. Individual components are now provided when required on a

just-in-time basis, thereby reducing storage requirements. These modifi-

cations, which are now largely implemented, are increasing efficiency

levels in 2004/05. 

In the Imaging Division, production of the new ORTHOPHOS XG line

was successfully implemented. The new production line was installed

parallel to the ongoing production process of the previous generation of

products. The automated quality assurance procedure, which was imple-

mented as part of the overall system, has made Sirona’s production pro-

cesses far more efficient. 

On November 1, 2004, the European Union enacted more stringent

regulations related to product quality and the emission of electromagne-

tic radiation. Anticipating these changes, Sirona has already redesigned

the affected products to comply with the new regulations. 

»We host distribution partners and custo-
mers from many different countries every
day – it is here that the international scope
of our business becomes fully evident.«
Patricia Seeliger, Dental Academy
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Employees

At the end of the financial year 2003/04, the Sirona Group had 1,251

employees on its books, 68 more than the year before. The growth in

sales and in the number of subsidiaries and acquisitions have contribu-

ted to this development. Upon the acquisition of HTC at the beginning

of the new financial year, the number of employees at the Sirona Group

increased to more than 1,600. A total of 350 employees, or 22 percent

of the workforce, are now based outside of Germany (previous year: 

5 percent). 

PROMOTE INTERNATIONAL AWARENESS AND ACTION

The trend toward the increasing internationalization of Sirona's work-

force will continue in the years to come. In fact, the company is already

responding to the new requirements relating to personnel development

and management directives. For example, the company has created a

department specifically for the purpose of international human resources.

Sirona systematically seeks applicants who have a sound knowledge of

the languages and are familiar with the cultures in the countries in

which the company operates. Many of them come from these countries

or have lived there for a longer period of time. 

TRAINEE MANAGERS FROM THE COMPANY’S OWN

RANKS

All told, almost 700 advanced training programs were conducted during

the financial year. For standard training courses on computer programs,

Sirona introduced the “web-based training course” in Bensheim. This

Internet-based learning program enables all participants to determine

when and how quickly they complete the individual units. This facilitates

smooth integration of advanced training into existing workflows. 

The Sirona management training program (SNAP) entered its second

phase in the 2003/04 financial year. Participants are selected from the

workforce following a multi-stage potential analysis. By means of special

coaching sessions, supervision by mentors and regular feedback discus-

sions, they are trained for future management positions at Sirona. 

INVOLVEMENT AT ALL LEVELS

The involvement of all employees in the development of the company is

one of the primary reasons for Sirona’s success. More than ninety-eight

percent of the workforce participates in the bonus program EVA (“eco-

nomic value-added”), which is based on performance. In addition,

during this financial year, the employees were offered the opportunity 

to acquire a stake in the company’s equity. 

The Success Management System (SEM), a program which has received

several awards, enables Sirona to integrate its employees into the strate-

gic development process. Within the framework of the annual “review”

process, 200 employees from all sectors identified areas for potential

improvement and developed proposed solutions. The results were incor-

porated directly into the company’s strategic and operating plans. 

Via the Sirona Ideas Management (SIM) suggestion system, employees

can submit suggestions for improving processes and workflows within

»The employees know the com-
pany best. Therefore, it is only 
logical to involve them in its 
development.«
Theo Haar, Executive Vice President Human Resources and Services

Number of employees (average number of full-time employees)

2001|02  1,149

2002|03 1,183

2003|04 1,251
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the company. As a result of the suggestions, which were implemented in

this financial year, Sirona will save in excess of 800,000 euros.

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY FROM THE OUTSET

At the end of the 2003/04 financial year, Sirona employed 102 trainees,

of whom the majority, 35, were learning the mechatronics engineering

trade. Sirona now provides training in five different professions, including

the “electrical engineering specialty for equipment and systems” which

was introduced at the beginning of the training year. 

Via the “learning island” project launched in January 2004, trainees will

be introduced to autonomous and process-oriented operations early in

their careers. In the learning island project, the trainees assume complete

responsibility for a small part of the production process from incoming

materials to final inspection and delivery. In this way they experience the

company's standard production processes during their training period.

The learning island complements the Junior Company which, as a “com-

pany within the company”, performs various services and activities for

individual divisions.

The master of business management program at Mannheim Business

School has been replaced by the “International Business Administration”

course of study. A fairly lengthy stint at one of the company's internatio-

nal subsidiaries is a standard component of the course. In addition,

Sirona is currently providing training for seven qualified engineers at

Mannheim Business School.

With Nordwest Dental, Sirona acquired a fourth partner for its joint train-

ing project, a program which it has been conducting successfully for a

number of years. The mechatronics engineering trainees at the partner

companies also spend some of their training period at Sirona in

Bensheim.

»We operate quite independently in the “learn-
ing island project”, although help is always
available if problems do arise. This is the most
effective way to learn.«
Sebastian Bitsch, trainee

The Sirona employees: intensive dialog, teamwork and personal responsibility from the very beginning.
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Strategic procurement – savings achieved

The Strategic Procurement Department commenced operations in

October 2003. In terms of future-oriented cost management, its task is

to continually improve all procurement processes at the company, adjust-

ing them to suit market conditions and identifying future savings poten-

tial. In collaboration with the product divisions, this department develops

more efficient procurement methods in order to optimize conditions for

Sirona to procure in the global market.

Sirona used innovative processes such as e-sourcing, and the results

have been encouraging. The implemented procedures helped to offset

raising commodity prices and lead to incremental savings. Sirona will

continue this kind of efforts.

Environmental protection – broad and lasting 
commitment

It is important to Sirona to treat the environment carefully and manage

resources economically. Environmental aspects are given careful conside-

ration at the early stage of product and procedural planning. At Sirona,

environmental management encompasses the areas of environmental

protection, quality assurance and occupational safety. Together, these

factors represent standard components of the annual review performed

within the framework of the Sirona Success Management (SEM) pro-

cess. Suggestions for improvement, which are developed during this pro-

cess, are then incorporated into the company's environmental program.

The status of implementation is documented on a regular basis and

published in the company's environmental report.

In this financial year, considerable energy savings were achieved in

Bensheim through improvements in production processes and the instal-

lation of a new heating system. The new burner utilizes approximately

thirty percent less fossil fuel, meaning that the carbon monoxide

discharge decreases by around 700 tons per year.

Sirona is a founding member of the Hessian Environmental Alliance. In

this Alliance, companies commit themselves to environmental measures

which go beyond the statutory standards. In return, the authorities dis-

pense with bureaucratic monitoring and controls.

Sirona's environmental management practices have received numerous

awards. They include the award for environmentally conscious corporate

management from the Partnership of Independent Companies (ASU). In

addition, the company is in compliance with the EMAS II EU

Environmental Directive, and its occupational safety management system

has been certified by the Hessian Ministry for Women, Labor and Social

Order and the competent professional association. 

»We operate a systematic cost
management process. This is a
central prerequisite for profitable
growth.«
Simone Blank, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
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Social commitment – assuming responsibility

For a number of years the company has been collaborating with

Bensheim schools in the field of career counseling. High school seniors

are given the opportunity to visit the company‘s factory. In addition,

Sirona is a member of the “School-Business” partnership. Under the lea-

dership of the Employer‘s Federation of South Hesse, this partnership

has devised a career choice program which helps pupils from all types of

schools transition to the world of gainful employment. 

Outlook – growth through innovation 

Sirona is anticipating growth in sales and profits again in the current

financial year. In its capacity as innovator, the company plays a key role

in developments in the dental industry. The new products launched on

the market in 2003/04 in the Imaging Systems and Treatment Center

Divisions are expected to positively influence the company‘s business

prospects.

Bolstered by the continued growing importance of ceramic restorations,

the demand for CEREC 3, the CAD/CAM system for dentists, remains

strong. The same applies to the CAD/CAM for dental laboratories, a

solution which is especially designed for their needs. At the beginning of

2005, Sirona will be launching the extra-oral scanner (inEos), a product

which will furnish dental laboratories with new opportunities to enhance

their efficiency. In this context, Sirona will also be expanding the central-

ized production of restorations via infiniDent.

With regard to handpieces, Sirona expects that its business in the United

States will continue to grow. On the product side, particularly dynamic

developments are expected in the fields of endodontic treatment and

implantology. With the endodontic handpiece SIRONiTi and the overall

competence of its subsidiary ATR, Sirona has what it needs to be suc-

cessful in this market. 

At the IDS in Cologne in April 2005, the industry‘s leading international

trade fair, Sirona will be presenting numerous innovative products. The

company's intensified sales activities are intended to increase awareness

of the Sirona brand and play a key role in forming a close bond with its 

customers. In the 2004/05 financial year, Sirona will strengthen its position

as the leading innovator among the manufacturers of dental equipment. 
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for the financial year from 
October 1, 2003 to September 30, 2004

During the financial year ended September 30, 2004, the Sirona Group increased its sales by 

13% and its earnings before interest, taxes and extraordinary non-operating expenses by 15% 

as compared with the previous year. 

The financial data for the 2004 financial year was materially affected by the changes in the

balance sheet and financial structure that resulted from the change in equity ownership and capi-

talization structure during the 2004 financial year. For this reason, various positions in the balance

sheet and income statement are only comparable to a limited degree with those from the pre-

vious year. For further details, please refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The comments in this management report therefore primarily relate to the financial presentation of

the results of the Group as set out in Section V of the notes.

Development of the business and situation of the Company

The Sirona Group generated sales of € 319.9 million in the financial year 2003/04, representing 

an increase of € 36.0 million or 13% compared with the previous year. All business and sales 

divisions contributed to the positive sales development. The development of the Dental CAD/CAM

Systems Division was exceptionally strong and is therefore worthy of special mention.

The dental industry in the financial year 2003/04 was characterized by the following developments:

� Strong growth in the U.S. dental market, especially for products with the potential to increase

the efficiency of dental practices, such as digital imaging and dental CAD/CAM systems.

� Reduced willingness of practitioners in Germany to invest in dental equipment due to the

resumption of the discussion of structural reforms in the healthcare system.

� Continuation of global mega trends: Increasing digitalization in dental practices, increasing

demand for aesthetically indicated dental medicine, willingness of dental consumers to spend

more in addition to the benefits provided by the public health funds, and an increase in

demand for biocompatibility and minimally invasive procedures.

The worldwide competitive landscape for the production of dental equipment is primarily 

characterized by a large number of medium-sized, family-owned suppliers, which are specialists 

in particular product groups. The Sirona Group is one of the largest players with an estimated

18% share of the world market for dental equipment. Compared with its competitors, Sirona has

the most comprehensive product range and has superior access to institutional capital.

PRO FORMA GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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Net assets and financial position

The balance sheet structure of the Sirona Group is significantly influenced by the financing structure

and the impact of the capital consolidation applying the revaluation method, the consequences of

which are the large share of fixed assets in the total assets and a low equity ratio.

Cash flow from the Group’s operating activities amounted to € 58.9 million in the reporting peri-

od. The funds generated were used for business acquisitions among other things. In addition, the

inflow of funds was used to finance part of the purchase price for the Group.

Results of operations

DEVELOPMENT OF SALES BY REGIONS

GERMANY – Growth despite general investment caution
Despite the general investment caution in conjunction with the renewal of the discussion on the

reform of the structure of the health system in Germany, sales increased by 4.4% in the reporting

period compared with the previous year this resulted in an overall market share gain for Sirona.

The positive sales development was mainly driven by the Dental CAD/CAM Systems Division. The

Treatment Centers and Handpieces Divisions also developed pleasingly, while sales in the Imaging

Systems Division fell below the previous year’s level. Sales in Germany did not develop as rapidly

as sales in other international markets. As a result, domestic sales of the Sirona Group accounted

for 29% of the total sales in the reporting period, compared with 31% in the previous year.

The current year’s performance in the German market will depend in particular on whether stable

health policies and positive changes in the economic environment and will result in a revival in

investment activities by dental practitioners. We feel that the Sirona Group is well positioned with

its products, and we expect growth to accelerate. This growth will be driven by the trends

towards digitalization and networking of the practices. Furthermore, we have recently introduced

proven product concepts with new comfort features to the market with the launch of the M1+

and ProFeel+ treatment centers, which should contribute to the further growth of the Sirona

Group in Germany.

EUROPE (outside Germany) — Above-market growth
Sales in this region increased significantly during the reporting period as compared with the pre-

vious year. Overall, European sales increased by 21%. In particular the markets in France, England,

Italy and the Benelux countries contributed to this development.
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The increase in sales in the Dental CAD/CAM Systems Division was particularly robust. In addition,

sales of treatment centers increased significantly. Sales in the Imaging Systems Division remained

at the prior year level however; we believe that we were able to increase our market share. Sales

in the Handpieces Division increased by about 40%, as a result of the expansion of the product

portfolio in the endodontic and hygiene fields among other factors.

We continue to regard the development in the current financial year 2004/05 positively. We will

further expand local support, to ensure sustained growth.

NORTH AMERICA – Continuous growth
Despite the weak dollar, sales in North America increased on a Euro basis by 16% compared with the

previous financial year and by as much as 27% on a currency-adjusted basis. All business divisions

contributed to the positive sales development. The continued strong growth in the Dental CAD/CAM

Systems Division and the successful entry to the market with handpieces were particularly gratifying.

The North American market is expected to remain a strong growth market for the Sirona Group in

the current financial year, not only on the basis of established products, but also due to newly

introduced products such as the C8+ treatment center.

OTHER WORLD MARKETS – Recovery and growth
Sales in these regions increased by 11% during the past financial year. All business divisions devel-

oped positively and sales growth in Asia and Eastern Europe was particularly robust.

We expect continued growth in these markets. To ensure our position, we will further strengthen

our local representations during the current financial year 2004/05. We are confident our product

portfolio will enable us to continue to capture market shares in these markets. 

DEVELOPMENT OF SALES BY PRODUCT DIVISIONS

TREATMENT CENTERS – Recovery of the markets
Sales increased in the reporting period by 10% compared with the previous year. All sales regions

contributed to the growth.

In view of the large number of older units in the market that will soon need to be replaced and

the improved product portfolio established by us in recent years, as well as the introduction of the

M1+, a new treatment center with a proven treatment concept and enhanced comfort, we expect

to be able to achieve sales growth in the current financial year, unless the general economic and

global political environment accompanied by reduced willingness to invest inhibit sales to a 

greater degree than anticipated.
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IMAGING SYSTEMS – Digital systems continue to advance
Sales in the Imaging Systems Division in the reporting period were 4% higher than in the previous

year. The trend already noted in the previous year of a switch from conventional to digital X-raying

is continuing unabated. Growth was recorded especially abroad, while domestic sales fell.

The introduction to the market of the new ORTHOPOS XG panorama X-ray machine during the

current financial year will contribute towards the positive development of this business division.

HANDPIECES – Successful market entry in the U.S.A.
Sales in the Handpieces Division were 25% higher than the previous year’s figure. In addition to

the expansion of the product range in the endodontic area, this was due to the successful entry

of Sirona into the U.S. market.

We intend to further increase our sales in the current financial year as a result of our successful

entry in the U.S. market.

DENTAL CAD/CAM SYSTEMS – increased market penetration of CEREC 3D
Sales in the Dental CAD/CAM division increased by 19% on a Euro basis and by as much as 31%

on a currency-adjusted basis during the reporting period as compared with the previous year.

CEREC 3D continues to advance. We expect that the acceptance of CAD/CAM systems will 

further increase as a result of our intensive market development efforts. Order intake in the cur-

rent financial year 2004/05 is developing positively, and we expect the Dental CAD/CAM Systems

Division to once again achieve double-digit growth. 

Impact of the weakening of the dollar

The Sirona Group bills about 28% of its sales in U.S. dollars. Furthermore, various materials, compo-

nents and services are also purchased in U.S. dollars. If the average euro/dollar exchange rate for the

business year 2002/03 (March to September) had been applied, the sales and the result from ordi-

nary operations would have been approximately € 4.2 million and € 3.0 million higher respectively.

Change in sales margins

The gross profit improved in the financial year compared with the previous year due to the 

different product and regional mix.
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Research and development

Spending on research and development amounted to € 23.8 million or 7.4% of sales in the repor-

ting period. The research capacity was strengthened in the software field in particular and through

cooperation with external partners.

Further important events during the financial year

� The sale of the Sirona Group to EQT Northern Private Equity Funds together with Sirona

management became legally effective on February 16, 2004.

� Establishment of subsidiaries in France and in the U.K. for better support and servicing of their

local markets.

� On April 13, 2004, the Sirona Group acquired Nitram Dental a/s with registered office in

Risskov, Denmark. Nitram is a manufacturer of hygiene products for the dental market.

� On May 6, 2004, a service and sales company called Sirona Dental Systems K.K. was 

established in Japan.

� On July 16, 2004, the remaining 75% of the shares in Sirona Equipos Dentales Ibérica S.A., 

a dental dealer with registered office in Barcelona, Spain, were acquired.

� Establishment of Sirona International Holding GmbH with registered office in Bensheim in

September 2004, for the purpose of bundling the international subsidiaries.

Significant events after the balance sheet date

� Establishment of Sirona Dental Systems Foshan Co. Ltd., China, as a wholly-owned subsidiary

of the Sirona Group to take over a Chinese manufacturer of treatment centers in October

2004. The subsequent acquisition of the Chinese “HTC Group” was also completed in October

2004.

� Establishment of SiCAT GmbH & Co. KG, a development company in the imaging systems

field, with the participation of the caesar Research Institute in Bonn, on November 10, 2004.

Indications of significant risks to future development

The main risks to the future development of Sirona are:

� Weakening of the economy leading to a reduction in the disposable income of private house-

hold’s available and reducing demand for high quality dental care.
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� The outcome of discussions in Germany on the reform of the structure of the health system

and the accompanying uncertainty of dentists, dental technicians and patients.

� Consolidation/concentration in the German dental distribution trade with resultant pressure 

on prices and margins.

� Consolidation/concentration of the manufacturers of dental equipment and therefore a 

change in the competitive environment.

� A further weakening of the dollar compared with the euro.

We have defined early-warning indicators for potential risks to the development of the business,

which are monitored within the framework of the ongoing processes and we will implement

appropriate countermeasures if necessary. There are no indications at the present time of any risks

constituting a threat to the continued existence of the Company.

Summary and outlook

The success of the Sirona Group in the core markets and the innovative nature of the product

portfolio resulted in sales growth of 13% and an improvement of 15% in earnings before interest,

taxes and extraordinary non-operating expenses in the past financial year.

For the current financial year, we expect a continued positive development, which could however

be negatively influenced by a further weakening of the dollar compared with the euro. The Sirona

Group will consequently maintain the strategy that it has adopted. We will continue to invest 

heavily in research and development and work to improve the existing cost structures in order to

create the conditions for a further increase in sales and therefore market share, while increasing

earnings.

We should like to thank our employees for their dedicated performance. We also wish to thank

the members of the works council for their trust in us and their constructive support.

Bensheim, December 17, 2004

Sirona Dental Systems Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH

Jost Fischer Simone Blank Theo Haar
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Pro forma consolidated balance sheet Assets

€ Note 9/30/04

Fixed assets IV.1.
Intangible assets

Patents and licenses 
amortized previous carrying amount 9,926,538 
from purchase price allocation 349,923,889

359,850,427
Goodwill 

amortized previous carrying amount 4,594,071
from purchase price allocation 83,150,398

87,744,469
Payments on account 111,232

447,706,128
Property, plant and equipment

Land, land rights and buildings 
amortized previous carrying amount 16,789,706 
from purchase price allocation 4,999,792

21,789,498
Technical equipment and machinery 

amortized previous carrying amount 3,887,790
from purchase price allocation 4,990,000

8,877,790
Other equipment, factory and office equipment 8,609,694
Payments on account and assets under construction 512,376

39,789,358
Financial assets

Cash surrender value of employer's pension liability insurance 708,801
708,801

488,204,287
Current assets
Inventories IV.2.1.

Raw materials and supplies 11,654,646
Work in process 7,727,762
Finished goods and merchandise 10,965,355
Payments on account to suppliers 591,617
Payments on account from customers -706,993

30,232,387
Receivables and other assets

Trade receivables IV.2.2. 47,936,576
Other assets 4,651,983

52,588,559
Cash on hand, bank balances and checks 32,299,135

115,120,081
Prepaid assets 1,126,205
Deferred tax assets 558,288

605,008,861

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Pro forma consolidated balance sheet Equity and Liabilities

€ Note 9/30/04

Equity IV.3.
Subscribed capital 508,000
Capital reserve 44,959,000
Revenue reserve -1,297,477
Exchange rate differences -192,231
Consolidated net loss for the year -28,362,426

15,614,866
Accruals
Accruals for pensions and similar obligations IV.4.1. 25,307,251
Tax accruals IV.4.2. 2,388,914
Deferred taxes on purchase price allocation IV.4.2. 132,952,114
Other accruals IV.4.3. 36,620,793

197,269,072

Liabilities
Shareholder loan IV.5.1. 40,680,367
Bank loans and overdrafts IV.5.2. 303,385,243
Trade payables 20,204,970
Other liabilities IV.5.3. 27,771,746

of which residual purchase price payment 20,000,000
of which taxes 1,368,569
of which social security 1,846,768

392,042,326
Deferred income 82,597

605,008,861
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Pro forma consolidated income statement

€ Note 2003|04

Sales V.1. 319,878,391
Cost of sales -179,898,464 

of which depreciation and amortization on
purchase price allocation -20,709,951

Gross profit 139,979,927

Research and development expenses -23,769,327
of which depreciation and amortization on
purchase price allocation -1,230

Selling expenses -67,016,752
of which depreciation and amortization on
purchase price allocation -3,115,927

General administrative expenses -14,400,380
of which depreciation and amortization on
purchase price allocation -95,260

Other operating income V.5. 2,727,742
Other operating expenses V.4. -14,458,628

of which depreciation and amortization on
purchase price allocation -7,425,374

II.1. -31,347,742
-116,917,345

Operating result 23,062,582

Other interest and similar income 749,215
Interest and similar expenses V.6. -27,015,829
Net financial expense -26,266,614
Result from ordinary operations -3,204,032

Extraordinary expenses V.7. -9,362,854
Income taxes -7,847,923
Release of deferred taxes on purchase price V.7.
allocation 7,914,882 7,914,882

-23,432,860
Other taxes -1,000,000
Pro forma consolidated net loss for the year -13,499,927
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Reconciliation to consolidated net loss for the year

€ Note 2003|04

Pro forma consolidated net loss for the year -13,499,927
Elimination of surplus from economic acquisition date
to date of initial consolidation (10/1/03-2/29/04) -14,862,499
Consolidated net loss for the year per pro forma consolidated balance sheet -28,362,426
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for the financial year from 
October 1, 2003 to September 30, 2004

Basis of presentation

The pro forma consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the provisions

of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The consolidated income statement follows the cost of

sales format.

Explanatory comments, which can be included either in the balance sheet, the income statement

or the notes, are presented as a general rule in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Nature of operations

I. General information
Sirona is one of the world’s leading manufacturers of dental equipment. The Group develops, pro-

duces and sells treatment centers, imaging systems, handpieces and hygiene equipment, as well

as systems for computer-supported ceramic restorations (Dental CAD/CAM Systems). The Group 

is present at 15 locations worldwide, and its head office is in Bensheim, Germany.

1. CREATION OF THE GROUP

Sirona Dental Systems Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH, Bensheim (“SDSBV“ – formerly Ephesos

Vermögensverwaltung GmbH), was established by articles of incorporation dated October 21,

2003. The majority of the interests in SDSBV are held by various EQT Northern Private Equity

Funds. In addition, the management and employees of Sirona Management hold indirect interests

in the company.

On February 16, 2004, SDSBV acquired indirectly via its subsidiaries, which include Sirona Dental

Services GmbH & Co. KG (formerly: Milet Zweite GmbH & Co. KG), all of the interests in Sirona

Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH, Bensheim (in the meantime called Sirona Dental Systems

GmbH), the former holding company of the Sirona Group, with economic effect from October 1,

2003.

The debt-free purchase price for the interests in the Sirona Group amounted to € 417.5 million. 

A portion of the purchase price amounting to T€ 20,000 was retained for possible warranty pay-

ments to the sellers and was due for payment on December 15, 2004.

The purchase price and the ancillary purchase costs for the acquisition were financed by equity, 

a shareholder loan, a mezzanine loan and senior ranking bank loans. The borrowers are Sirona

NOTES TO THE PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Dental Services GmbH & Co. KG and Sirona Dental Systems GmbH (formerly Sirona Beteiligungs-

und Verwaltungs GmbH). Details on the financial liabilities are provided in Note IV.5.2.

As a result of the acquisition and the associated restructuring of the financing and the impact of

the recognition of the difference on capital consolidation, the consolidated balance sheet and the

income statements are only comparable with the key data of the Sirona Group prior to the acqui-

sition in the operative area. For this reason, these notes include a pro forma comparison with the

prior year data for the main operative balance sheet and income statement data. 

The impact of the allocation of the purchase price is disclosed separately in the balance sheet and

income statement.

2. GROUP COMPANIES

Sirona Dental Systems Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH, Bensheim, is preparing consolidated

financial statements for the Sirona Group as of September 30, 2004, which include the following

wholly-owned subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries and their shorthand expression

Sirona Dental Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG, Bensheim SDV KG

Sirona Dental Services Verwaltungs GmbH, Bensheim SDV GmbH

Sirona Dental Services GmbH & Co. KG, Bensheim SDS KG

Sirona Dental Systems GmbH, Bensheim SDS

Sirona International Holding GmbH, Bensheim SIH

Sirona Immobilien GmbH, Bensheim Immo

Sirona Equipos Dentales Ibérica S.A., Barcelona/Spain SEDI

Sirona Holding, Inc., Wilmington, Delaware/U.S.A. SHUS

Sirona Dental Systems LLC, Charlotte/U.S.A. SDS US

Advanced Technology Research s.r.l., Pistoia/Italy ATR

Sirona Dental Systems K.K., Tokyo/Japan SDS KK

Nitram Dental a/s, Risskov/Denmark Nitram

Sirona Dental Systems S.A.S., Paris/France SDS FR

Sirona Dental Systems Ltd., London/U.K. SDS UK

A summary of the group structure as of September 30, 2004 is set forth on page 65. 
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In addition to the group parent company, Sirona Dental Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG, Sirona

Dental Services Verwaltungs GmbH and Sirona Dental Services GmbH & Co. KG, the purchaser of

the Sirona Group, all with registered offices in Bensheim, were established in the course of the

acquisition and the associated restructuring of the Sirona Group. 

Sirona Dental Systems GmbH (old), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sirona Beteiligungs- und Ver-

waltungs GmbH (Sirona Dental Systems GmbH (new)), was merged into SBV with economic effect

from October 1, 2003. The merger was reported to the Commercial Register, and was entered on

July 21, 2004. The change in the name of SBV to Sirona Dental Systems GmbH was resolved with

a shareholders’ resolution dated May 26, 2004 and was entered in the Commercial Register on

July 29, 2004.

The following further changes or augmentations to the group structure took place during the pro

forma financial year:

The subsidiary, Sirona Dental Systems S.A.S., was established in France on October 14, 2003.

SDS acquired all of the shares in Nitram Dental a/s with registered office in Risskov, Denmark on

April 13, 2004. Nitram is a manufacturer of hygiene products for the dental market.

The service and sales company, Sirona Dental Systems K.K., was established on May 6, 2004 in

Japan as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sirona Dental Systems GmbH.

The remaining 75% of the shares in Sirona Equipos Dentales Ibérica S.A. (a dental dealer) with

registered office in Barcelona, Spain, were acquired on July 16, 2004.

Sirona International Holding GmbH (SIH) was established on September 24, 2004, and is the 

future holding company for the foreign subsidiaries of the Group. The shares in Sirona Dental

Systems Ltd. were sold to Sirona International Holding GmbH on September 28, 2004. It is 

planned that the shares in further foreign subsidiaries will be transferred to SIH.
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3. DATE OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial year-end of SDSBV and all consolidated companies is September 30, 2004.

The initial consolidation of the Group was carried out with effect from February 29, 2004, as the

end of the month in which the interests in the Sirona Group passed to the purchasers.

The consolidated income statement has been prepared pro forma from the economic acquisition

date, since which the Group has existed in this form, i.e. for the period from October 1, 2003 to

September 30, 2004.

II. Summary of significant accounting policies 

1. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Capital consolidation was carried out applying the revaluation method, by offsetting the purchase

costs against the equity of the subsidiaries as of the acquisition date.

The difference on capital consolidation as of February 29, 2004 of T€ 326,988 was allocated on

the basis of an expert opinion issued by PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs-

gesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, dated December 17, 2004, as follows:

Difference on capital consolidation

T € 2/29/04

Intangible assets

Technologies 208,800

Patents 89,270

Trademarks 70,100

Licenses 1,000

369,170

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings 5,150

Technical equipment 7,020

12,170

Remaining goodwill (asset) 86,515

467,855

Deferred taxes -140,867

Difference as of 2/29/04 326,988
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Market-oriented, capital-oriented or cost-oriented procedures were applied, as follows, when

determining the fair values of the assets recognized by the acquired enterprises and the intangible

assets, which had not previously been recognized but which were identified in conjunction with

the allocation of the purchase price.

The “multi period excess earnings method”, a residual profit procedure, was applied in order to

determine the fair value of the technologies existing in the Group. This method is based on a fore-

cast of the future revenues and expenses that can be allocated to the assets to be valued. The

pre-tax earnings attributable to an asset were reduced, after taking into account taxes, by the impu-

ted expenses for supporting assets (so-called contributory assets charges or CAC) and corporate

taxes, and were discounted to the valuation date applying a capitalization rate of 8%. Patents and

trademarks were valued in accordance with the license price analogy method. The licenses were

recognized with the present value of the future earnings. The buildings were valued with the discoun-

ted cash flows of fair market rents over the residual utilization periods of the individual buildings.

Technical equipment was valued in accordance with the replacement cost method.

In all the valuation procedures, the tax amortization benefits were added back with a tax rate of

36.94% and reported as deferred tax liabilities of altogether T€ 140,867, of which T€ 7,915 or

36.9% of the depreciation and amortization on intangible assets and property, plant and equip-

ment was released as of September 30, 2004 (see V.8).

In addition to the differences on initial consolidation of the Group as of February 29, 2004, good-

will of T€ 4,719 arose on the capital consolidation of the companies acquired during the financial

year.

Amortization on differences

The amortization of T€ 24,791 of the differences for the period from March 1 to September 30,

2004 is reported in the consolidated income statement separately within the operational costs, in

order to make the operative performance of the Group transparent. Furthermore, amortization on

the goodwill from the capital consolidation of the Sirona Group in its old structure and amortiza-

tion on other differences are included in the amount of T€ 4,061 under other operating expenses

and in the amount of T€ 2,496 under cost of sales, and are also disclosed separately.

The release of deferred taxes is disclosed separately.

All material intercompany accounts and transactions were eliminated on consolidation.

Intercompany profits on inventories were eliminated pursuant to Section 304 HGB. The amount 

of the intercompany profit elimination on the inventories of the Group as of February 29, 2004 of

T€ 1,297 is reported as a revenue reserve.
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Deferred taxes are calculated based on the deferral method, under which the current tax rate for

significant group companies is applied.

The annual financial statements of SDSBV and its domestic and foreign subsidiaries have generally

been prepared applying uniform accounting and valuation principles in accordance with the HGB.

Valuation principles of foreign subsidiaries, which are applied in accordance with local statutory

regulations, have been maintained to the extent that a potential impact on the consolidated

financial statements was deemed immaterial.

2. CONVERSION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The annual financial statements of foreign entities are converted into euros using the exchange

rates on the balance sheet date, except for equity items, which are translated with the actual

exchange rate as of the date of initial consolidation. Differences arising on translation are shown

as a separate position within equity.

Amortization on differences

T € Total

Amorti- Amorti- Amorti-

Balance Additions zation zation zation Balance

as of 3/1/04 – 10/1/03 – 3/1/04 – 10/1/03 – as of

2/29/04 9/30/04 2/29/04 9/30/04 9/30/04 9/30/04

Differences on first-time consolidation of the Group:

Intangible assets

Technologies 208,800 0 0 -12,400 -12,400 196,400

Patents 89,270 0 0 -3,750 -3,750 85,520

Trademarks 70,100 0 0 -2,726 -2,726 67,374

Licenses 1,000 0 0 -370 -370 630

369,170 0 0 -19,246 -19,246 349,924

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings 5,150 0 0 -150 -150 5,000

Technical equipment 7,020 0 0 -2,030 -2,030 4,990

12,170 0 0 -2,180 -2,180 9,990

Remaining goodwill (asset) 86,515 0 0 -3,365 -3,365 83,150

467,855 0 0 -24,791 -24,791 443,064

Acquired companies 4,719 0 -125 -125 4,594

Pro forma amortization of "old" 
goodwill and assets 0 -5,121 -1,311 -6,432 0

467,855 4,719 -5,121 -26,227 -31,348 447,658
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Exchange rate differences arising from the consolidation of medium and long-term debts are

shown as a separate position within equity.

Foreign currency receivables and payables are converted at the exchange rates prevailing as of the

transaction date or at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date (September 30, 2004). Realized

gains and losses, and unrealized losses, are recognized in profit and loss for the current period.

III. Accounting and valuation methods

The main accounting and valuation principles are summarized as follows:

1. SALES REVENUES

Sales revenues are recorded on shipment of products. They represent amounts realized, excluding

value added tax, and are net of returns, trade discounts and allowances.

2. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

All research and development expenses are expensed in the period incurred.

3. EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS

In accordance with German GAAP, all significant income and expense items that are not related

to the normal course of business are classified as extraordinary items.

4. FIXED ASSETS

Purchased intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost and are amortized on a straight-line

basis over a maximum of five years or the longer contractual useful lives of the underlying assets.

Patents are amortized straight-line over the term of the patents, not exceeding ten years.

Goodwill from capital consolidation is amortized on a straight-line basis over an expected useful

life of 15 years. Impairment losses are recognized on goodwill whenever recovery of the recorded

costs is permanently impaired due to product innovations or changes in market conditions.

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at acquisition or production cost less scheduled

depreciation. Impairment losses are recognized whenever impairment in value is permanent.

Recurring maintenance and repair costs, as well as interest costs, are not capitalized, but are

expensed as incurred. German group companies generally use the declining balance method of

depreciation, switching to the straight-line method as soon as the latter results in higher deprecia-

tion. Depreciation of the property, plant and equipment of foreign group companies is calculated

primarily using the straight-line method.
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Low-value items with acquisition costs of up to € 410 are fully expensed in the year of acquisi-

tion.

The estimated useful lives of tangible assets are as follows:

5. CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories are recognized at acquisition or production cost, or at their lower current value. In

addition to direct material and direct labor costs, production costs include an appropriate propor-

tion of overhead material and production expenses, as well as production-related depreciation.

Interest on borrowings is not included in the production costs. Inventories include allowances for

risks relating to slow-moving items and technical obsolescence.

Receivables and other assets are stated at their nominal amounts or at their fair values, if lower.

Valuation allowances for accounts receivable are established for specific collection risks, discerni-

ble country risks and general collection risks.

6. PENSION ACCRUALS AND OTHER ACCRUALS

The pension scheme taken over from Siemens AG on October 1, 1997 (legacy scheme) was res-

tructured with economic effect from January 1, 2001 by a single plant bargaining agreement

dated August 23, 2001.

� The previous pension scheme remains effective for employees falling under the legacy scheme

who were at least 55 years old as of the changeover date and for retired employees. The

obligations are accounted for at going concern value in accordance with Section 6a of the

German Income Tax Act.

� The contractual obligations against the Company for employees who had not yet reached the

age of 55 years at the changeover date were frozen, and payments will be made in future to

a pension fund. The accruals (legacy scheme) are recognized at the present value of the futu-

re obligation.

� Payments are made to a pension fund for all employees, as defined by Section 5 paragraph 1

of the Labor-Management Relations Act, who joined the scheme on or after October 1, 1997.

Estimated useful lives of tangible assets

Factory and office buildings 20 to 50 years

Other buildings 5 to 10 years

Technical equipment and machinery 5 to 10 years

Office and other equipment 3 to 5 years
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� Since November 2002, all employees of Sirona have been able to convert a portion of their

wages or salaries (in the form of one-time payments from gross earnings) into an employer’s

pension commitment. These amounts are used as insurance premiums that are paid into an

employer’s pension liability insurance scheme. The claim under the pension liability insurance

scheme is shown as a separate item in the financial assets, and an accrual is established in

the same amount within the pension accruals.

Other accruals cover all discernable risks resulting from uncertain liabilities and anticipated losses

on uncompleted transactions.

The calculation method for accruals for vacation and for credit balances on flextime accounts is

based on a decision of the German Federal Fiscal Court dated June 26, 1980.

7. USE OF ESTIMATES

Management made certain estimates and assumptions in preparing the consolidated financial sta-

tements, in order to determine the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and contingent

assets and liabilities and the reported amounts in the income statement. The actual results could

differ from these estimates.
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IV. Notes to the balance sheet

As already explained in Note I.1, only the operative financial data of the newly created group

under the management of Sirona Dental Systems Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH are com-

parable with the Sirona Group under its “old” structure, i.e. prior to the acquisition. The current

assets, short-term liabilities and the affected accruals are compared below:

1. FIXED ASSETS

The development of the fixed assets is presented separately on page 62.

Financial assets include the capitalized employer’s pension liability insurance capital of T€ 709

(9/30/03 pro forma T€ 348) as reported by the expert opinions from Mannheimer Versicherung

AG and Protektor Lebensversicherungs-AG. An employees‘ claim in the same amount is shown as

a separate item within the pension accruals.

Comparison of significant balance sheet items

as of as of
T € 9/30/2004 9/30/2003

Pro forma Pro forma

Inventories 30,232 24,485

Trade receivables 
(incl. trade receivables from former affiliated companies) 47,937 42,560

Other assets 4,652 3,645

Prepaid expenses 1,126 837

Deferred tax assets 558 0

84,505 71,527

Pension accruals 25,307 23,752

Tax accruals 2,389 3,590

Other accruals 36,621 29,158

Trade payables
(incl. trade payables to former affiliated companies) 20,205 19,537

Other liabilities 7,772 5,897

92,294 81,934

-7,789 -10,407
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2. CURRENT ASSETS

2.1. Inventories

As of the balance sheet date, payments on account received from customers were deducted from

the inventories in accordance with Section 268 (5) Sentence 2 HGB.

Valuation allowances of T€ 7,994 (30/9/03 pro forma T€ 7,776) were made to cover the risks of

excess and obsolete products.

2.2. Trade receivables

Trade receivables are stated at invoiced amounts less allowances for identified doubtful accounts.

Additionally, a general valuation allowance was established for general collection risks, as is com-

mon practice in Germany. Valuation allowances amount to T€ 5,543 as of September 30, 2004

(30/9/03 pro forma T€ 6,664).

Trade receivables of T€ 162 (30/9/03 pro forma T€ 73) have a residual term of more than one

year.

3. EQUITY

Equity is made up as follows as of September 30, 2004:

Break down of shareholders’ equity

T € 9/30/2004

Subscribed capital 508

Capital reserve 44,959

Revenue reserve (elimination of intercompany profits) -1,298

Exchange rate differences -192

Consolidated net loss for the year

Net loss for the year since economic acquisition 
of the Sirona Groupe as of 10/1/2003 -13,500

Elimination of surplus from economic acquisition date to date of
initial consolidation (10/1/03 - 2/29/04) -14,862

-28,362

Equity 15,615
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4. ACCRUALS

4.1. Accruals for pensions

The pension accruals are exclusively related to German group companies. The pension accruals are

based on actuarial reports and have been developed using the going concern value method in

accordance with Section 6a of the German Income Tax Act or at present value. The discount rate

used in deriving the German pension benefit obligation was 6% p.a.

Pension accruals are insured with the pension insurance fund (Pensionssicherungsverein).

4.2. Tax accruals and deferred taxes from purchase price allocation

In addition to the tax accruals, accruals of T€ 132,952 have been set up for deferred taxes on

the difference on capital consolidation.

4.3. Other accruals

These accruals are stated at the amounts expected to be paid based on the information available

as of the balance sheet date. 

Other accruals

T € 9/30/2004 9/30/2003
Pro forma Pro forma

Employee-related accruals 26,176 21,174

Warranty accruals 5,969 4,096

Miscellaneous 4,476 3,888

36,621 29,158
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5. LIABILITIES

Liabilities, which are stated at their repayment amount, are due as follows:

5.1. Shareholder loan

The financing of the Group was restructured in conjunction with the acquisition of the Sirona

Group and the creation of the Group. In addition to bank loans, a shareholder loan of 

T€ 38,566 was granted by the majority shareholders. The loan is charged with interest at 7% p.a.

The interest is not paid, but is being accumulated until the end of the term on January 14, 2006.

Interest of T€ 2,114, which is recognized as a liability, had been incurred by September 30, 2004.

The rank of this loan is subordinated to the other bank loans.

5.2. Bank loans

The bank loans comprise senior ranking loans of T€ 300,000. The loans were divided into four

tranches, Tranche A (TUS$ 148,028), Tranche B (T€ 67,500), Tranche C (T€ 67,500) and a mez-

zanine loan (T€ 50,000). In addition, an overdraft facility of T€ 30,000 exists.

Tranche A (TUS$ 148,028) is repayable in semiannual installments through February 16, 2011,

which are calculated as a percentage of the loan amount. The first redemption of TUS$ 4,441

was made in September 2004. The agreement stipulates the early repayment of capital amounts

under certain conditions. In particular, 75% of an excess cash flow (as defined) falls due one

month after issuance of the audited consolidated financial statements.

Maturity of liabilities

T € Total Within Between Over
1 year 1 1 and 5 years 5 years

Shareholder loan 40,680 0 40,680 0

Bank loans 
including interest payable

Term A 116,378 11,998 73,186 31,194

Term B 67,500 0 0 67,500

Term C 67,500 0 0 67,500

Mezzanine 51,998 0 0 51,998

Other overdrafts 9 9 0 0

303,385 12,007 73,186 218,192

Trade payables 20,205 20,205 0 0

Other liabilities 27,772 27,745 27 0

392,042 59,957 113,893 218,192
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Tranche A is charged with interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 1.50% to 2.25% p.a. The margin is

calculated based on the ratio of consolidated total net debt to consolidated EBITDA for the pre-

vious reporting period. Interest is payable on a monthly, quarterly or semi-annual basis. A step-up

swap has been concluded for 66.7% of the interest for the next three years.

Tranche B is repayable in a single amount of T€ 67,500 on February 16, 2012. The agreement sti-

pulates the early repayment of capital amounts under certain conditions. In particular, 75% of an

excess cash flow (as defined) falls due one month after issuance of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

Tranche B is charged with interest at EURIBOR plus a margin of 2.25% to 2.75% p.a. The margin

is calculated based on the ratio of consolidated total net debt to consolidated EBITDA for the pre-

vious reporting period. Interest is payable on a monthly, quarterly or semi-annual basis. A

cap/floor collar has been concluded for 66.7% of the interest for the next three years.

Tranche C is repayable in a single amount of T€ 67,500 on February 16, 2013. The agreement sti-

pulates the early repayment of capital amounts under certain conditions. In particular, 75% of an

excess cash flow (as defined) falls due one month after issuance of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

Tranche C is charged with interest at EURIBOR plus a margin of 3.25% p.a. Interest is payable on

a monthly, quarterly or semi-annual basis. A cap/floor collar has been concluded for 66.7% of the

interest for the next three years.

The mezzanine loan of T€ 50,000 is repayable on February 16, 2014 in a single amount. The

agreement stipulates the early repayment of capital amounts under certain conditions. In particu-

lar, 75% of an excess cash flow (as defined) falls due one month after issuance of the audited

consolidated financial statements.

The mezzanine loan is charged with interest at EURIBOR plus a margin of 11.25% p.a., which is

split into a portion of 5.00% p.a., which is payable on an on-going basis, and a portion of 6.25%

p.a., which has to be accumulated until the end of the term. A cap/floor collar has been conclu-

ded for 66.7% of the interest for the next three years.

The bank loans are secured by the pledge of the participations in Sirona Dental Systems GmbH,

Sirona Dental Services GmbH & Co. KG, Sirona International Holding GmbH and Sirona Immobilien

GmbH, Bensheim. Additionally, all receivables, bank accounts, tangible assets, inventories as well

as, in addition, the patents, trademarks and other property rights of Sirona Dental Systems GmbH

and Sirona Dental Services GmbH & Co. KG are pledged.
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5.3. Other liabilities

Other liabilities include the deferred purchase price liability of T€ 20,000, which was due for pay-

ment to the sellers of the Sirona Group on December 15, 2004.

6. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities exist primarily under the guarantees granted by financing institutions for pro-

duct financing for customers, which were concluded prior to March 2003. Such product financing

agreements are generally provided for a period of five years. The contractual regulations grant a

right of recourse against the authorized dealers. As of September 30, 2004, the Group’s contin-

gent liabilities amounted to T€ 5,839 (30/9/03 pro forma T€ 8,393).

7. OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no significant financial commitments at the end of the reporting period relating to

capital expenditure. 

Other future financial commitments as of September 30, 2004 were as follows:

Other liabilities

T € 9/30/2004 9/30/2003
Pro forma Pro forma

Outstanding purchase price payment 20,000 0

Social security payables 1,847 1,766

Taxes 1,369 1,199

Miscellaneous 4,556 2,932

27,772 5,897

Other financial commitments

T €

2004/05 2,731

2005/06 1,441

2007/08 222
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V. Notes to the income statement

Pro forma comparison of Group EBIT in internal reporting format (management accounts):

Since the presentation of Group EBIT and the comparability with the previous year is limited on

account of the acquisition and the resultant allocation of the difference on initial consolidation,

the income statement is presented below and compared with the previous year pro forma in the

unaudited internal reporting format (management accounts). Significant differences in the presen-

tation are the reporting of the amortization on differences on capital consolidation, the presenta-

tion of non-operating expenses and income and selling, and administrative expenses.

Management accounts (unaudited)

T € 2003|04 % of 2002|03 % of
Pro forma sales Pro forma sales

Sales 319,878 283,929

Cost of sales -162,990 -51% -149,296 -53%

Gross profit 156,888 49% 134,633 47%

Research and development expenses -24,056 -8% -20,844 -7%

Selling expenses -66,591 -21% -53,377 -17%

Administrative expenses -11,679 -4% -10,349 -3%

Other operating income / expenses 5,377 2% 1,538 0%

EBIT 59,939 19% 51,602 18%

Reconciliation to HGB

Revaluation of US$ loan -4,828 -2% 0 0%

Amortization of capitalized items on account 
of purchase price allocation (step-up) -31,348 -10% -13.067 -4%

Extraordinary expenses / income -700 0% -187 0%

EBIT (HGB) 23,063 7% 38,347 14%

EBITDA 71,361 22% 60,840 21%
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The following comments on individual items in the income statement relate to the presentation in

HGB format:

1. SALES

Group sales by geographical regions were as follows:

Sales by product groups in 2003/04 compared with the prior year pro forma figures were as 

follows:

Sales by geographical regions

Other 

countries

T € Germany in Western North Other Total

Europe America countries

2002|03 
Pro forma 87,359 69,144 69,548 57,878 283,929

2003|04 
Pro forma 91,187 83,504 80,720 64,467 319,878

Sales by product groups

T € 9/30/2004 9/30/2003

Pro forma Pro forma

Treatment Centers 101,759 92,682

Dental CAD/CAM Systems (CEREC) 99,191 83,366

Imaging Systems 66,150 63,538

Handpieces 50,805 40,591

Electronic Center 1,973 3,752

319,878 283,929
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2. COST OF MATERIALS

Cost of materials included in cost of sales amounted in 2003/04 to T€ 155,972 (2002/03 pro

forma T€ 137,190).

3. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Total personnel expenses amounted in 2003/04 to T€ 88,760 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 83,467),

and included pension costs of T€ 2,862 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 3,030).

4. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

In addition to amortization on goodwill of T€ 7,425 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 9,900), other opera-

ting expenses mainly consist of currency losses of T€ 6,922 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 3,385).

5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income mainly includes currency gains of T€ 2,680 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 807).

6. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES

This item includes the cost of financing the purchase price in the amount of T€ 9,349 (2002/03

pro forma T€ 0), current interest payments for bank financing of T€ 12,492 (2002/03 pro forma

T€ 1,987) and interest of T€ 5,174 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 8,021) on the shareholder loan.

7. EXTRAORDINARY EXPENSES 

The extraordinary expenses reported mainly comprise expenses of T€ 7,875 incurred as a result of

the acquisition and investigation costs for acquisition objects.

8. INCOME TAXES

Income taxes mainly include German trade tax of T€ 3,787 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 3,276) and

German corporate income tax (including the solidarity surcharge) of T€ 4,729 (2002/03 pro

forma T€ 2,635), less the proceeds of T€ 7,915 from the release of deferred tax liabilities set up

in connection with the initial consolidation.

9. OTHER INFORMATION RELATED TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

The reported operational costs include income of T€ 954 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 1,091) related

to prior periods from the release of accruals.
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VI. Other disclosures

1. CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow is presented separately on page 64, in order to show the financial position of the

Group.

2. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The average number of employees during the financial year on a full-time basis by type of

employment was as follows:

Average number of employees on a full-time basis

2003|04 2002|03

Pro forma Pro forma

Hourly paid employees 524 517

Salaried employees 727 666

Temporary employees 31 23

1,282 1,206
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3. MANAGEMENT AND MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

The managing directors of Sirona Dental Systems Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH, Bensheim,

are:

� Jost Fischer, Bensheim, President & Chief Executive Officer

� Simone Blank, Bensheim, Chief Financial Officer 

� Theo Haar, Lautertal, Vice President Human Resources

Management remuneration for the pro forma reporting period (10/1/03-9/30/04) totaled 

T€ 1,978 (2002/03 pro forma T€ 1,621).

The total remuneration of the advisory board for the pro forma reporting period amounted 

to T€ 53.

Bensheim, December 17, 2004

Management

Jost Fischer Simone Blank Theo Haar
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Pro forma consolidated fixed asset movement schedule

Acquisition or production cost

€ 10/1/2003 Additions Additions Disposals Reclassi- Currency 9/30/2004
operating PPA fications

Intangible  
assets

Patents and licenses 46,183,969 1,392,362 369,170,000 21,472 59,912 0 416,784,771

Goodwill 155,573,480 4,719,241 86,514,865 155,573,480 0 0 91,234,106

Payments on account 0 111,232 0 0 0 0 111,232

201,757,449 6,222,835 455,684,865 155,594,952 59,912 0 508,130,109

Property, plant and equipment

Land, land rights and buildings 50,226,640 48,429 5,150,000 0 0 -402 55,424,667

Technical equipment and machinery 14,273,273 1,489,931 7,020,000 325,035 -97,897 0 22,360,272

Other equipment, factory and
office equipment 36,695,154 5,774,281 0 1,379,022 -23,580 -17,209 41,049,624

Payments on account and 
assets under construction 501,351 512,376 0 0 -498,449 -2,902 512,376

101,696,418 7,825,017 12,170,000 1,704,057 -619,926 -20,513 119,346,939

Financial assets

Participations 100,394 0 0 100,123 -271 0 0

Cash surrender value of employer's

pension liability insurance 347,830 360,700 0 0 271 0 708,801

448,224 360,700 0 100,123 0 0 708,801

303,902,091 14,408,552 467,854,865 157,399,132 -560,014 -20,513 628,185,849
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Net book
Depreciation and amortization value

10/1/2003 Additions Additions Disposals Reclassi- Currency 9/30/2004 9/30/2004
operating PPA fications

32,081,473 5,580,948 19,246,111 21,473 47,285 0 56,934,344 359,850,427 

59,248,301 125,170 3,364,467 59,248,301 0 0 3,489,637 87,744,469 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 111,232 

91,329,774 5,706,118 22,610,578 59,269,774 47,285 0 60,423,981 447,706,128 

32,749,782 735,182 150,208 0 0 -3 33,635,169 21,789,498 

10,986,895 1,061,095 2,030,000 320,266 -275,242 0 13,482,482 8,877,790 

28,351,649 5,760,638 0 1,328,315 -332,057 -11,985 32,439,930 8,609,694 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 512,376 

72,088,326 7,556,915 2,180,208 1,648,581 -607,299 -11,988 79,557,581 39,789,358 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 708,801 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 708,801 

163,418,100 13,263,033 24,790,786 60,918,355 -560,014 -11,988 139,981,562 488,204,287 
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Pro forma consolidated cash flow statement

€ 10/1/2003 –

9/30/2004 
Pro forma consolidated net loss for the year -13,499,927
Ancillary acquisition costs 17,223,552
Other extraordinary expenses 1,488,052
Result from ordinary operations after taxes 5,211,677
Depreciation and amortization on fixed assets 38,053,819
Release of deferred taxes on purchase price allocation -7,914,882
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 98,163
Increase in inventories -5,746,982
Increase in trade receivables -7,928,628
Increase in receivables from / payables to former affiliated companies -2,817,313
Decrease in sundry assets 2,441,199
Increase in accruals 7,816,894
Increase in trade payables 2,579,980
Increase in sundry liabilities 1,953,424
Extraordinary expenses -1,488,052
Cash flow from operating activities * 32,259,299
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 57,435
Withdrawal of consolidated goodwill as of 10/1/04 96,325,179
Purchase price allocation of new goodwill -86,514,865
Purchase price allocation of fixed assets -381,340,000
Increase in deferred taxes on purchase price allocation 140,866,996
Ancillary acquisition costs -17,223,552
Investment in fixed assets -14,408,552
Cash flow from investing activities -262,237,359
Redemption / repayment of old bank financing -34,177,285
Proceeds from taking up / change in new bank financing 303,385,243
Redemption / repayment of old shareholder loan -89,041,966
Proceeds from taking up / change in new shareholder loan 40,680,367
Outstanding purchase price obligation 20,000,000
Changes in equity due to change in group parent company -24,572,345
Cash flow from financing activities 216,274,014
Cash flow for the financial year -13,704,046
Exchange rate difference 8,524
Net cash flow for the financial year -13,695,522
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 45,994,657
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 32,299,135

*  Of which cash-effective
Interest expenses 14,906,532
Tax expenses 11,775,476

Cash flow from operating activities without cash-effective interest and tax expenses 58,941,307
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Group structure as of September 30, 2004

Sirona
Immobilien

GmbH

Sirona Equipos
Dentales Ibérica

S.A., Spain

Sirona Dental Systems GmbH

Sirona
Dental Services GmbH & Co. KG

Sirona
Dental Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG

Sirona Dental Services 
Verwaltungs GmbH

Sirona Dental Systems
Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH

Sirona International Holding GmbH

Sirona Holding,
Inc., U.S.A.

Sirona Dental
Systems LLC,

U.S.A.

Advanced Tech-
nology Research

s.r.l., Italy

Sirona Dental
Systems K.K.,

Japan

Nitram Dental
a/s, Denmark

Sirona Dental
Systems S.A.S.,

France

Sirona Dental
Systems Ltd.,

United Kingdom

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100%

0%

0%

100%

100%

100% 100%

100%
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We have audited the pro forma consolidated financial statements and the pro forma group manage-

ment report for the business year from October 1, 2003 to September 30, 2004 prepared by Sirona

Dental Systems Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH, as described below.

The purpose of the pro forma consolidated financial statements and the pro forma group management

report is to present the development of net assets, financial position and results of operations as if the

Group had already existed since October 1, 2003, although the Group only came into existence legally

on February 16, 2004. The pro forma consolidated financial statements and the pro forma group

management report accordingly present a hypothetical situation. The assumptions made in preparing

the pro forma consolidated financial statements are explained in the notes to the pro forma consoli-

dated financial statements.

The preparation of the pro forma consolidated financial statements and the pro forma group manage-

ment report taking into account the assumptions presented in the notes to the pro forma consolidated

financial statements and taking commensurate account of German commercial law is the responsibility

of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the pro forma

consolidated financial statements and the pro forma group management report have been prepared in

accordance with the assumptions presented in the notes to the pro forma consolidated financial state-

ments and in commensurate observance of German commercial law, based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the pro forma consolidated financial statements and the pro forma group

management report in accordance with German professional standards, taking commensurate account

of the German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). They included all auditing procedures that we considered necessa-

ry in the circumstances. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment

of the Group and evaluations of possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of

audit procedures. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit has

not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, the pro forma consolidated financial statements were prepared taking into account the

assumptions described in the notes and in commensurate observance of German commercial law. The

pro forma group management report provides inasmuch a suitable understanding of the Group’s posi-

tion and suitably presents the risks of future development.

Frankfurt am Main, December 17, 2004

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Original German version signed by

Wagenseil, Wirtschaftsprüfer Giebermann, Wirtschaftsprüfer

AUDITORS’ CERTIFICATE



Terminology

3-D TECHNOLOGY

Technology used for three-dimensional representation of objects. Digital volume models are used

to create precisely fitting restorations with dental CAD/CAM technology.

AMALGAM

Metal alloy of different combinations. Silver amalgam (approximately 50 percent mercury, 35 

percent silver as well as small percentages of copper and tin) is frequently used for tooth fillings. 

The use of amalgam is controversial due to its corrosiveness (mercury salts are released) and it 

is suspected of triggering allergic reactions. In addition to this, it has been proven that amalgam 

can cause considerable poisoning on the long term.

BIOCOMPATIBILITY

Materials which have no negative influence on living organisms in the surrounding environment

are considered to be biocompatible. This is an especially important property of materials which

are in constant contact with the body (such as implants and restorations).

BRIDGE

Bridges are replacements of lost or missing teeth held in place by cement. They are anchored to

natural teeth referred to as the bridge supports. One or more bridge components can be placed

between the support teeth.

CAD/CAM

CAD = computer-aided design

CAM = computer-aided manufacturing

CAD/CAM systems integrate computer-aided product development and manufacturing processes.

Dental CAD/CAM procedures allow for fully automated carving or construction of restorations,

which have been designed on the PC, using special high-quality ceramic or metal.

CEPHALOMETRIC X-RAY SYSTEMS

Head X-rays. The X-ray image provides information pertaining to the facial profile, the positions 

of the upper and lower jaws in the skull, the direction of face growth and positions of teeth in 

the upper and lower jaws. This type of X-ray is required especially in orthodontic treatment.

CERAMIC

Material used increasingly for dental prosthesis production since the 1980s. In addition to hard-

ness and stability, other advantages include appearance (ceramic can be made to match the color

of neighboring teeth) and good tolerability.

GLOSSARY
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CONTRA-ANGLE 

This type of electric handpiece attachment is used to prepare teeth for fillings, inlays, crowns 

or bridges. Contra-angles attach to a motor which drives the drilling or milling attachment. 

CROWN

Tooth coating made of suitable material such as a metal alloy, ceramic or plastic. A single crown

is used to restore a tooth and thereby extend the tooth’s longevity.

DENTAL EQUIPMENT

Devices and systems required on location for dental treatment and to create and insert restorations:

treatment units, X-ray devices, handpieces, sterilisation and hygiene devices, dental CAD/CAM

restoration systems

EMAS II

The Eco Management and Audit Scheme is an environmental management tool developed for

companies by the European Community. The objective of the EMAS decree is continual improve-

ment of a company’s environmental performance. Participation is voluntary. Companies which 

use EMAS II have implemented an environment management program and issue an annual 

environmental statement.

ENDODONTICS

Root canal treatment. Dental treatment form used to save a tooth, the roots of which have been

irreversibly damaged or are infected by bacteria. The endodontic procedure consists of preparing

the root canal using special rotating handpieces (files), subsequently disinfecting them and then

adding a filling.

IMPLANTS

Dental implants are artificial tooth roots, which are inserted in place of missing teeth. Modern

implants are usually made of titanium or a titanium alloy and resemble a screw. A crown is placed

on top of this screw (implant supraconstruction).

IMPLANTOLOGY

Dental treatment discipline (insertion of implants).

INLAY

A filling made of metal, ceramic or plastic, which is entirely surrounded by tooth material.

INTRAORAL X-RAY SYSTEM

System used to make X-ray images inside the mouth to depict individual teeth or groups of teeth.

The patient has a sensor (in the case of analog X-ray, a film) in the mouth and exposure is carried

out using an X-ray outside the body.



MINIMALLY INVASIVE

Minimally invasive dentistry refers to treatment in which the patient suffers a minimum number of

cuts. Minimally invasive can be used to refer to the treatment method as well as the treatment result.

ONLAY

Filling made of metal, ceramic or plastic, which extend to cover one or more tooth surfaces.

PANORAMIC X-RAY SYSTEM

Panoramic X-rays are used to produce images of the entire jaw. The dentist uses this X-ray system

to obtain an overview of the entire dental situation. The X-ray device moves externally around the

patient’s entire jaw.

PNEUMATIC MOTOR

The type of motor used to power dental handpieces. The devices are driven by an air current

generated by a turbine. The pneumatic motor is widely used in the U.S.A. among other places.

RECEDING GUMS

Common term for periodontosis: inflammatory condition signalized by loss of the tooth support

structure including the gums and the bone. Periodontosis is the primary reason for tooth loss by

adults. More than three quarters of adults over 35 years of age suffer from a form of periodontosis.

PREVENTIVE DENTISTRY

In medical terms, preventive care refers to measures taken to prevent or lessen the likelihood of

certain illnesses.

RESTORATION

Replacement of damaged or lost tooth structure using fillings, crowns or other materials.

TREATMENT CENTER

The dentist chair including accessories such as the patient communication system (monitor, 

intraoral camera).

TOUCHSCREEN

Computer screen which allows for controlling a device by touching the screen.

VENEER

Almost transparent cover made of ceramic, which is glued to discolored or broken teeth.
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Financial terms

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS

These are so-called transitory assets and liabilities listed in the balance sheet. For example, this

could refer to expenses paid in the previous fiscal year, but which apply to the new fiscal year

(transitory assets).

CASH FLOW

This reflects the actual flow of money within a period (income and expenses) and is an indicator

of a company’s internal financing strength.

CONSOLIDATED TOTAL NET DEBT TO CONSOLIDATED EBITDA

The relationship of Consolidated Total Net Debt to Consolidated EBITDA. Consolidated Total Net

Debt: Total liabilities of a group after deducting all cash stock and bank credits within the group,

which could be immediately applied to the liabilities. Consolidated EBITDA: EBITDA at group level

(see below)

EBIT

Earnings Before Interest and Tax.

EBITDA

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization.

EVA 

Economic Value Added – concept used for value-oriented company management. The EVA 

indicator evaluates the development of the company according to the actual economic profit. 

This value is also used as a foundation for calculating success-oriented compensation.

EXPENSES CLASSIFIED BY FUNCTION

Method used to determine the period profit. As opposed to expenses classified by their nature,

the expenses here are not separated into expense types (material, personnel, depreciations), but

rather into functional areas (manufacturing, administration, sales). The revenues are only assigned

to the manufacturing costs that are directly related to these revenues.

GDP (GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT)

Measure of a country’s economic performance. Denotes the newly available quantity of goods

and services produced by persons living in the country within a single year.



GOODWILL

This is also referred to as company value. It is the difference between the purchase price and the

current value of company assets.

LATENT TAXES

Profit tax to be paid or received in the future. These taxes do not represent actual claims or liabili-

ties to tax offices at the time that the balance sheet is drawn up.

LIMITED REVALUATION METHOD

The limited revaluation method is used in the context of initial consolidation of purchased com-

panies. Subsequently assets and debts of the purchased company are revaluated. The alternative

to the limited revaluation method is called the book value method.

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS (M&A)

Merger or acquisition of companies or company units.

MEZZANINE LOAN

Type of financing between equity and foreign capital. Mezzanine loans are lower-rated than other

credits and are usually not backed up with securities. Therefore mezzanine creditors carry a higher

risk but receive more interest.

PRIVATE EQUITY

General term used to describe all equity investment forms: venture capital, mezzanine and 

leveraged buy-out. Investment capital in its broadest sense.

R&D QUOTE

Relationship of the expenditures for research and development to total sales volume.

VALUE CHAIN

Includes all activities (value-creating and not value-creating) involved in developing and manu-

facturing a product. A distinction is made between the production chain from raw material to 

the customer’s hands and the development chain from product conception to production launch.
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LOCATIONS

� Sirona Company
�  Sirona Representative Office

� U.S.A. (Charlotte, NC)

France (Paris) �
UK (London) �

Denmark (Risskov) �

� Germany (Bensheim)

Spain (Barcelona) �

� Egypt (Cairo)

� Saudi Arabia (Riyadh)
� China (Foshan)

Australia (Sydney) �

� Japan (Tokyo)Korea (Seoul) �

� Russia (Moscow)

� Italy (Pistoia)

� South Africa (Johannesburg)

China (Beijing) �



AT A GLANCE

The key figures of the Sirona Group for the financial year 2003/04 are only comparable to the previous years for our operating business due to

changes of ownership and financing structures and the associated effects of first time consolidation. Please find further details in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Sirona Companies

GERMANY 
Sirona Dental Systems GmbH
Fabrikstrasse 31
64625 Bensheim, Germany
Phone: +49 (0)6251 16 0 
Fax: +49 (0)6251 16 25 91 
E-mail: contact@sirona.de 
Internet: www.sirona.de

DENMARK 
Nitram Dental a/s
Sindalsvej 36
8240 Risskov, Denmark 
Phone: +45 (0)87 43 90 60 
Fax: +45 (0)87 43 90 61 
E-mail: info@nitramdental.com
Internet: www.nitramdental.com

FRANCE 
Sirona Dental Systems S.A.S.
15, Rue des Halles
75001 Paris, France
Phone: +33 (0)1 42 21 21 51 
Fax: +33 (0)1 42 21 03 05 
E-mail: info@sirona.fr
Internet: www.sirona.fr 

ITALY 
Advanced Technology Research s.r.l. (ATR)
Via del Pescino 6
51100 Pistoia, Italy 
Phone: +39 (0)573 36 42 54 
Fax: +39 (0)573 36 40 02 
E-mail: info@atrdental.com
Internet: www.sirona.it

SPAIN 
Sirona Equipos Dentales Ibérica, S.A.
Montnegre, 18-24, Esc. B. Entlo 1a
08029 Barcelona, Spain
Phone: +34 (0)93 321 53 16
Fax: +34 (0)93 419 51 34
E-mail: barcelona@sirona-spain.com  
Internet: www.sirona.com/es

UNITED KINGDOM 
Sirona Dental Systems Ltd.
Regents Place
338, Euston Road
London NW1 3BT, United Kingdom
Phone: +44 (0)207 544 86 32  
Fax:  +44 (0)207 544 84 01
E-mail: info@sironadental.co.uk 
Internet: www.sironadental.co.uk

ADDRESSES

U.S.A.
Sirona Dental Systems LLC
4835 Sirona Drive
Charlotte, NC 28273
P.O. Box 410100, U.S.A. 
Phone: +1 704 587 04 53 
Fax: +1 704 587 93 94 
E-mail: marketing@sirona.com 
Internet: www.sirona.com

CHINA
Sirona Dental Systems Foshan Co. Ltd.
Lianhe Shishi Industry Zone, Luocun Town
Nanhai District
Foshan, Guangdong, China
Phone: +86 (0)757 86 40 01 11
Fax: +86 (0)757 86 40 06 59
E-mail: contact@sironafoshan.com.cn
Internet: www.sironafoshan.com.cn

JAPAN
Sirona Dental Systems K.K.
Takanawa Ono Bldg. 3F
15-21, Takanawa 2 chome
Minato-ku
Tokyo 108-0074, Japan
Phone: +81 (0)3 54 75 22 55 
Fax: +81 (0)3 54 75 22 66 
E-mail: info@sirona.co.jp
Internet: www.sirona.co.jp 

Sirona Representative Offices

AUSTRALIA 
Sirona Representative Office
Tim Carse
13, Lower Beach Street,
Balgowlah
NSW 2093, Australia
Phone: +61 (0)2 99 49 25 94 
Fax: +61 (0)2 99 49 26 23 
E-mail: timcarse@sirona.com.au
Internet: www.sirona.com.au 

CHINA 
Sirona Representative Office
Room 718, Lido Commercial Building
Jiangtai Road, Chao Yang District
Beijing 100004, China 
Phone: +86 (0)10 64 36 73 85 
Fax: +86 (0)10 64 36 73 87 
E-mail: wuyansro@public3.bta.net.cn 
Internet: www.sirona.cn 

EGYPT
Sirona Representative Office
Dr. Bassel Khulief
P.O. Box 76
Al Andalus 11817
Cairo, Egypt
Phone: +20 (0)2270 82 41 
Fax: +20 (0)2270 82 41 
E-mail: sironaeg@tedata.net.eg
Internet: www.sirona.com

KOREA
Sirona Representative Office
c/o Shinhung Co. Ltd.
10-3, Jungnim-Dong, Jung-Gu
Seoul, Korea 100-858
Phone: +82 (0)2 63 66 21 21

+82 (0)2 63 66 21 30 
Fax: +82 (0)2 63 66 21 31 
E-mail: wolfgang.braun@shinhung.co.kr
Internet: www.sirona.com 

RUSSIA 
Sirona Representative Office
ul. Timura Frunze 16, Building 3
119021 Moscow, Russia
Phone: +7 095 246 97 60 
Fax: +7 095 246 64 92 
E-mail: sironadental@mtu-net.ru 
Internet: www.sirona.com

SAUDI ARABIA
Sirona Representative Office
Dr. Mohammed Yacoub
P.O. Box 295734
Riyadh 11351, Saudi Arabia
Phone: +966 (0)1 463 14 22 
Fax: +966 (0)1 466 06 76 
E-mail: yacoub.sirona@sps.net.sa
Internet: www.sirona.cn 

SOUTH AFRICA
Sirona Representative Office
Andy Cyprianos
P.O. Box 1345
Cresta
Johannesburg 2118, South Africa
Phone: +27 (0)834 26 65 96
Fax: +27 (0)839 16 01 50
E-mail: andyc.sirona@telkomsa.net
Internet: www.sirona.com

Sirona Group Key figures 

T € 2003|04 2002|03 2001|02 2000|01 1999|00

Pro forma

Sales 319,878 283,929 271,989 277,709 218,994

Research and development expenses 23,769 20,570 20,262 18,689 19,160

Material costs 155,972 137,190 135,432 151,120 115,943

Personnel costs 88,760 83,467 74,882 77,662 68,336

Interest and similar expenses* 27,016 10,248 9,706 12,762 13,000

Result from ordinary activities* -3,204 28,757 18,929 19,836 -2,120

Extraordinary result* -9,363 -2,599 -994 -1,802 2,356

Income taxes / Other taxes* -933 -6,534 -10,642 -3,730 -211

Net income of the year* -13,500 19,624 7,212 14,304 25

Subscribed capital and capital reserves* 45,467 62,785 62,785 89,706 89,706

Employees (average number of full-time employees) 1,251 1,183 1,149 1,105 1,078

EBIT (adjusted)** 61,333 51,602 43,819 46,549 32,487

EBITDA*** 71,361 60,840 52,562 55,054 40,818

*comparisons to previous years are only feasible on a limited basis

**EBIT before step-up depreciation, extraordinary results and depreciations, and currency losses on the US$-denominated bank loan

***EBITDA before extraordinary results and depreciations, and currency losses on the US$-denominated bank loan

Sales in T €

Research and developement expenses in T €

EBITDA in T €

Sales by divisions 2003|04

Treatment Centers

Dental CAD/CAM Systems

Imaging Systems

Handpieces

15.9%

31.0%

21.3%

31.8%

Sales by sales regions 2003|04

Germany  

Western Europe (outside Germany)  

North America 

Other World Markets 

20.2%

26.1%

25.2%

28.5%
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Blindtext Zwischentitel groß Lorem
Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ Veteresne

poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste quidem vete-

res inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est iunior anno.

Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui perficit anos ut

equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum, dum cadat elusus

ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem aestimat annis mira-

turque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. 

Ennius et sapines et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter cura-

re videtur, quo promissa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in mani-

bus non est et mentibus haeret paene recens? Adeo sanctum est vetus

omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit prior, aufert PacuviusSi

meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quotus

arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inteprobus,

centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor uno mense vel anno,

inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos?

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ 

Veteresne poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste

quidem veteres inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est

iunior anno. Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui per-

ficit anos ut equinae paulatim vell caudaeque pilatque probus, centum

qui perficit anos ut equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum,

dum cadat elusus ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem

aestimat annis miraturque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. Ennius et sapi-

nes et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter curare videtur, quo

promissa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in manibus non est et

mentibus haeret paene recens? 

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos?s centum qui

decidit, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque

novos? Excludat iurgia finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit

annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referen-

dus erit?“ 

Adeo sanctum est vetus omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit

prior, aufert PacuviusSi meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim,

chartis pretium quotus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui

decidit, inteprobus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor

uno mense vel anno, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter

vilis atque novos?

BLINDTEXT ZWISCHENTITEL GROß LOREM

Si meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim, chartis pretium quo-

tus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui decidit, inter per-

fectos veteresque referri debet an inter vilis atque novos? Excludat iurgia

finis, „Est vetus atque probus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui depe-

riit minor uno mense vel anno, inter quos referendus erit?“ 

Veteresne poetas, an quos et praesens et postera respuat aetas? Iste

quidem veteres inter ponetur honeste, qui vel mense brevi vel toto est

iunior anno. Utor permisso, caudaeque pilatque probus, centum qui per-

ficit anos ut equinae paulatim vello unum, demo etiam unum, dum

cadat elusus ratione ruentis acervi, qui redit in fastos et virtutem aesti-

mat annis miraturque nihil nisi quod Libitina sacravit. Ennius et sapines

et fortis et alter Homerus, ut critici dicunt, leviter curare videtur, quo pro-

missa cadant et somnia Pythagorea. Naevius in manibus non est et

mentibus haeret paene recens? 

Adeo sanctum est vetus omne poema. ambigitur quotiens, uter utro sit

prior, aufert PacuviusSi meliora dies, ut vina, poemata reddit, scire velim,

chartis pretium quotus arroget annus. scriptor abhinc annos centum qui

decidit, inteprobus, centum qui perficit annos. Quid, qui deperiit minor

uno mense vel anno, inter perfectos veteresque referri debet an inter

vilis atque novos?

OCTOBER 2003
By establishing subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and France, Sirona

strengthens its presence in these important markets. 

The expansion of the CAD/CAM systems software for dental laborato-

ries (inLab) opens up new applications possibilities. This enables the

manufacture of four-part bridges, veneers, inlays and onlays as well as

supraconstructions.

The Strategic Purchasing Department begins its work. The task:

Improving corporate procurement processes as well as identifying and

exploiting savings potential.

Sirona launches electrically-driven instruments in the U.S.

Supported by the growing trend of dentists changing from air-driven

motors to electric motors, sales exceed expectations.

NOVEMBER 2003
EQT Northern Europe Private Equity Funds and Sirona Management 

purchase Sirona from Permira Funds.

The “Biss bald – Zaehne mit Zukunft” initiative is launched in coopera-

tion with ZDF (German television). Various TV shows run features on

such topics as preventive dental care, restorative therapy, crowns and

bridges. A patient information brochure is also launched.

MARCH 2004
The Handpieces Division begins converting production to the “one-piece-

flow concept”. Once completed, Sirona will be able to manufacture each

of the current sixty-seven different turbine variations on a daily basis.

APRIL 2004
The M1+ is launched as successor to the M1, which was – with 34,000

sold – the most successful treatment center in the world. 

Sirona purchases all shares in Nitram Dental a/s, an innovative provider

of dental hygiene and instrument sterilization devices.

MAY 2004
A dissertation written at the University Dental Clinic in Cologne once

again proves the durability of CEREC restorations. With more than 2,300

restorations examined, the survival probability after nine years is 95.5

percent.

The SIRONiTi Air+ launched by Sirona is the air-operated version of the

contra-angle handpiece for root canal treatment (endodontics) with

nickel-titanium files. 

Sirona further expands the CAD/CAM system for dental laboratories.

With infiniDent, dental technicians can centrally manufacture ceramic as

well as metal copings and bridge frameworks at Sirona and hence,

increase their efficiency.

Sirona Japan is set up and will be actively operating from October 1.

JULY 2004
The ORTHOPHOS XGPlus, the top model in the digital panoramic imaging

product line, is launched. It opens up many new diagnostic possibilities

for dentists, specializing in oral surgery, implantology or orthodontics. 

Sirona expands its international activities: The company purchases the

shares previously held by the former partners of the Spanish sales com-

pany Sirona Equipos Dentales Ibérica S.A., making it a 100%-owned

subsidiary. 

SEPTEMBER 2004
The Sirona Dental Academy expands its training offerings with seminars

for dentists, dental technicians, dental practice teams and laboratory

staff. 

To consolidate the international subsidiaries, Sirona sets up Sirona

International Holding GmbH. 
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Sirona Group

Fabrikstrasse 31

64625 Bensheim, Germany

Tel.: +49 (0) 6251 16 0

Fax: +49 (0) 6251 16 25 91

contact@sirona.de  

www.sirona.com
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